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INSTITUTIONAL OVERVIEW
Memorial University was established in 1925 as Memorial College and was dedicated to
those who served Newfoundland in World War I. It opened in St. John’s with an initial
enrolment of 55 students and a full-time teaching staff of six. Following Confederation in
1949, the institution was granted university status by the first Provincial Government of
Newfoundland and Labrador. The university began with a simple purpose of providing
university education and its benefits to the people of the province. From these humble
beginnings, Memorial University has developed into a major comprehensive university
that comprises four campuses and the Labrador Institute. It has a total enrolment of more
than 18,000 students, making it one of the largest educational institutions in eastern
Canada.
As Newfoundland and Labrador’s only university, Memorial has a special obligation to the
people of this province. The university strives to have national and global impact, while
fulfilling its social mandate to provide access to university education for the people of the
province and to contribute to the social, cultural, scientific, and economic development
of Newfoundland and Labrador and beyond.
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Memorial University Campuses

St. John’s Campus: The St. John’s campus is Memorial’s largest with more than 40
buildings that house the teaching and research facilities of six faculties and six schools.
The campus offers undergraduate, graduate and professional programs in a
comprehensive range of disciplines. Research facilities support the diversity of disciplines
and reflect the university’s mid-North Atlantic location and unique cultural heritage. The
campus also houses central administrative services for the entire system and the Queen
Elizabeth II Library, which has one of the most notable collections in Atlantic Canada.
Grenfell Campus: Sir Wilfred Grenfell College was established in Corner Brook in 1975 to
address the educational needs of the west coast of the province. In 2010 the College was
restructured to become Grenfell campus. Initially created to provide students with an
opportunity to complete the first two years of their program on the west coast, the
campus has evolved to offer a host of undergraduate and graduate degree programs in
arts, sciences, environmental studies and fine arts, among others.
Marine Institute Campus: The Marine Institute (MI) was established as the College of
Fisheries, Navigation, Marine Engineering and Electronics in 1964 and merged with
Memorial University in 1992. The Institute’s main campus is located in St. John’s, with
facilities in: Foxtrap, Holyrood, Stephenville, and Lewisporte. Having one of the most
advanced and comprehensive collections of marine research and educational facilities,
MI is recognized globally as a leader in marine education and applied research. MI offers
a variety of graduate, undergraduate, diploma, and certificate programs in areas related
to fisheries and oceans along with a vast array of industrial response courses and other
outreach activities.
Harlow Campus: Memorial University’s Harlow Campus is located abroad in Old Harlow,
Essex, United Kingdom. A number of the academic units from Memorial’s campuses offer
programs and credit courses at the Harlow Campus. The campus also houses a limited
number of interns from Social Work, Pharmacy, Business, and Engineering programs. The
campus is also available as a base for faculty members and graduate students conducting
research or further study in the United Kingdom.
Labrador Institute: In addition to the four campuses noted above, Memorial University
also maintains an important presence in Labrador through the Labrador Institute.
Established in 1977, the Labrador Institute is mandated to stimulate, coordinate, and
support major university projects and programs and to expand the Labrador knowledge
base. The goal of the Labrador Institute is to facilitate the educational aspirations,
research requirements, and the socio-cultural well-being of the people of Labrador. It has
offices in three locations: Happy Valley-Goose Bay; Labrador City; and North West River.
All offices are co-located with College of the North Atlantic (CNA).
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The Memorial University Act specifies the role, responsibilities, structure and other
governance and administrative aspects of the university. The university is governed by a
Board of Regents, including: ex-officio, members appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor
in Council, members elected by Memorial University Alumni Association, and student
members appointed by the Lieutenant-Governor in Council. Membership of the Board of
Regents as of April 3, 2017 are provided in the following table.

Ex-Officio

Dr. Susan
Dyer Knight,
Chancellor
Dr. Gary
Kachanoski,
President and
ViceChancellor
Dr. Noreen
Golfman,
Provost and
VicePresident
(Academic)

Appointed by LieutenantGovernor in Council
Iris Petten, Chair,
Avalon
Margaret Allan, Avalon
Michelle Baikie,
Labrador
Glenn Barnes, Avalon
Steven Belanger,
Avalon
Robert Bishop, Avalon
Mark Bradbury, Avalon
Joe Dunford, Avalon
Karen McCarthy,
Avalon
Max Rice, Central
Trevor Stagg, West
Eleanor Swanson,
Avalon

Elected by
Memorial
University
Alumni
Association

Students
Appointed by
LieutenantGovernor in
Council

Colleen
GalgayJohnston

Jaime Giraldo

Katherine
Hickey

Rebecca
Stuckey

John Hogan

Zachary
Green

Kimberly
Keating
Denis
Mahoney
George Tucker

The legislation also defines the governance structure of the institution and the powers
and responsibilities vested in it. The governance system is bicameral, having two
governing bodies: the Board of Regents and Senate. The Board of Regents is generally
charged with the “management, administration and control of the property, revenue,
business and affairs of the university.” The Senate has “general charge of all matters of
an academic character.”
Subsection 36(2) of the Act mandates that the university cannot incur liability or make an
expenditure, without the consent of the Lieutenant-Governor in Council, which exceeds
one-quarter of one per cent of the total of a grant made to the university by the
Legislature and estimated revenue of the university from other sources for the current
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year. Section 38.1 of the Act is intended to preserve the autonomy of the institution,
ensuring that the merits of decisions or actions of the Board or the Senate taken in
contemplation of work customarily associated with a university is not questioned by the
Auditor General and stating that the university is not an agency of the Crown for the
purpose of the Auditor General Act, or any other purpose. The university is subject to the
Transparency and Accountability Act, though there are sections in the Act intended to
protect the autonomy of the institution.
Information about the mandate, lines of business and mission of the university can be
found in the Strategic Plan for 2014-17.
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Key Statistics

Memorial’s enrolment for the first year after receiving university status stood at only 307
students. Today, the university is home to 18,010 undergraduate and graduate students.
While this status has been achieved in large measure by educating and serving the people
of Newfoundland and Labrador, the university now enrolls a more diverse population of
students from local, national and international communities. The table below provides
detailed enrollment information for Fall 2016 by provincial campus, program level, gender
and enrollment status.
Undergraduate/Diploma
Female

St. John’s Campus+
Full-time
Part-time
Grenfell Campus^
Full-time
Part-time
Marine Institute
Campus~
Full-time
Part-time
Distance
Full-time
Part-time
Total*

Male

Total

Graduate
Female

Male

Total

Total

6,830

4,170

11,000

1,797

1,718

3,515

14,515

6,350
480

3,947
223

10,297
703

1,056
741

1,341
377

2,397
1,118

12,694
1,821

554
531
23

667
638
29

1221
1169
52

33
32
1

20
19
1

53
51
2

1,274
1,220
54

236

695

931

59

132

191

1,122

162
74

484
211

646
285

19
40

36
96

55
136

701
421

624
132
492

475
88
387

1099
220
879

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

1,099
220
879

8,244

6,007

14,251

1,889

1,870

3,759

18,010

+- Includes Centre for Nursing Studies
^-Includes Western Regional School of Nursing
~-Excludes Marine Institute industrial response courses. The total enrolment in these courses was 8,288 and the revenue generated from them
subsidizes the administrative and faculty costs of the Institute.
*-Excludes 262 post graduate medicine students
- Students taking courses at Harlow and the Labrador Institute are counted on the campus where they are registered for their program.
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As of March 2017, Memorial employed approximately 3,900 faculty and staff across its
three campuses in the province, as shown in the table below.
Faculty*
Female

Male

Staff

Total

Female

Male

Total

Total

St. John’s Campus
Full-time
Part-time

525
459
66

682
602
80

1,207
1,061
146

1,227
1,141
86

794
765
29

2,021
1,906
115

3,228
2,967
261

Grenfell Campus
Full-time
Part-time

49
42
7

59
57
2

108
99
9

106
104
2

66
63
3

172
167
5

280
266
14

Marine Institute
Campus
Full-time
Part-time
Total

48

166

214

98

83

181

395

44
4
622

156
10
907

200
14
1,529

97
1
1,431

82
1
943

179
2
2,374

379
16
3,903

* – Harlow and Labrador Institute staff are included in the St. John’s Campus numbers.

Memorial University’s fiscal year is April 1 to March 31. Financial Statements are prepared
by Financial and Administrative Services staff and audited by external auditor, Ernst and
Young. In 2016-17, the total operating budget for the university (including Faculty of
Medicine) was $431.1 million and the capital budget was $3.2 million. Revenues include:
grants from the Provincial Government of $376.2 million; tuition fees of $48 million, a
grant from the Federal Government of $4.1 million; and smaller sources of income
including endowments and investments.
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Highlights and Partnerships

In 2016-17, there were a number of significant highlights and accomplishments at
Memorial including:
•

On June 23, 2016, Memorial received $125 million from the Federal and Provincial
Governments to help fund the new Core Science Facility on the St. John’s campus.
A $325 million project, the teaching and research space will be occupied primarily
by the Departments of Biochemistry, Biology and Chemistry in the Faculty of
Science, the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering in the Faculty of
Engineering and Applied Science and labs from the Core Research Equipment and
Instrument Training (CREAIT) Network.

•

The Federal Government announced nearly $100 million in funding on Tuesday,
September 6, for the creation of the Ocean Frontier Institute (OFI), a historic
partnership between Dalhousie University, Memorial University of Newfoundland
and the University of Prince Edward Island (UPEI). The OFI will focus on solutions
for safe and sustainable ocean development. Memorial University researchers
and graduate students from multiple disciplines will participate in some of the
world’s most ambitious research aimed at unlocking the secrets of the North
Atlantic. The Oceans Frontier Institute will be housed in the new Core Science
Facility.

•

Memorial awarded 3,325 degrees in its Spring and Fall convocations, including
2,399 bachelor’s degrees, 847 master’s degrees and 79 PhDs.

•

Graduate enrolment for the Fall 2016 semester increased to an all-time high of
3,759, increasing from 3,607 in Fall 2015 and up over 60 per cent since 2007.

•

Sponsored research funding total for 2016-17 is just over $100 million.

•

International enrolment is also at an all-time high, reaching 2,474 in Fall 2016,
compared to 978 in 2007 for an increase of nearly 153 per cent.

•

Three major funding announcements were made by the Federal Government in
support of Memorial’s infrastructure:
o $3 million was announced for the Marine Institute’s ocean technology base in
Holyrood. The money will go towards making the MI base a world-class facility
to support the applied research, training and testing requirements of the
province’s growing ocean technology industry.
o $14.4 million was provided for a new animal research building. The money will
go towards replacing two of Memorial’s current research care facilities.
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o $4.1 million was awarded to support Memorial’s re-furbishing of the Battery
site as a provincial center for innovation and public engagement.
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•

On March 2, 2017, the Fisheries and Marine Institute introduced new graduate
degree programs in fisheries science. The school of fisheries will deliver three
program options: Master of Science in Fisheries Science (Fisheries Science and
Technology); Master of Science in Fisheries Science (Stock Assessment); and a
Doctor of Philosophy in Fisheries Science. This marks the first time the Marine
Institute has offered a doctoral program in its 53 year history.

•

In March 2017, the Council on Higher Education held its first meeting, bringing
together the Provincial Government, College of the North Atlantic and Memorial
in a collaborative effort to shape the future of the public post-secondary education
system.

MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND

REPORT ON STRATEGIC ISSUES
Four priority issues were identified in the 2014-17 Strategic Plan: (1) teaching and
learning; (2) research, scholarship and creative activity; (3) public engagement; and (4)
enabling success. The pages that follow provide a report on the objectives for 2016-17,
as well as the goals for the three year period covered by the plan. For further details,
readers are encouraged to reference the corresponding objectives sections from the
Memorial University Annual Reports 2014-2015 and 2015-2016.
The university is a complex, decentralized organization with a multitude of academic,
administrative and support units. As a comprehensive university, it offers a wide variety
of educational programs, conducts research in a vast range of subject areas, and is
involved in many initiatives that serve the needs of the province and beyond. The scope
and magnitude of its operations makes the preparation of these reports challenging.
Efforts have been made to produce a document that balances length and inclusiveness.

ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017

9

ISSUE 1: TEACHING AND LEARNING

Guided by the Teaching and Learning Framework (TLF), Memorial strives to foster a
teaching and learning community that is engaging, supportive, committed to discovery,
outcomes-oriented, inclusive and responsive. The ultimate goal is an environment that
connects learners and educators in knowledge exchange and generation, for the
advancement of society. All educators and learners at Memorial are encouraged to use
the principles of the Teaching and Learning Community as the foundation for their work.
The community works to ensure that its approach to teaching and learning supports the
desired qualities of Memorial’s graduates as set out in the framework.
The TLF Strategic Plan 2014-17, outlined two major goals for the university:
1. Alignment and coordination of teaching and learning programs, services and
facilities.
2. Promotion and development of connections among educators, students, staff and
the broader community.
The plan also guided the deployment of an annual allocation of $1.2 million to the TLF
Fund. The purpose of the fund is to support university activities that foster the
development of the desired qualities of graduates; contribute to the enhancement of the
teaching and learning community; and/or address one or more of the recommendations
of the TLF.

Objective 2016-2017: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have
implemented activities to strengthen teaching and learning.
Measure:

Implemented activities to strengthen teaching and learning.

INDICATOR
1. Enhanced
alignment
and
coordination
of programs,
services and
facilities for
teaching
and
learning.
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2016-17 RESULTS
In 2016-17, Memorial enhanced the alignment and coordination
of programs, services and facilities for teaching and learning.
Selected examples include:
• In its second year of a two-year term, the Chairs in Teaching
and Learning (CTLs) program continued to develop an
organized effort to address the priorities of the TLF,
advancing the scholarship of teaching and learning; issues of
cultural diversity and vulnerable student populations; and
learning techniques and technologies. The 13 CTLs led and
supported conferences, seminars, discussion forums,
research projects, technologies development and other
initiatives within academic units. The CTLs formally
collaborated, coordinated by the Manager of the TLF, on
interdisciplinary initiatives and projects to improve the
MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND

•

•

broader institutional practice and reputation of teaching and
learning at Memorial.
A total of 28 TLF funded projects are underway to research
and test new practices, strategies and technologies in
teaching and learning. Of the 28 projects, 14 are expected to
be completed in 2017 and will be evaluated for further
implementation.
The Centre for Innovation in Teaching and Learning (CITL)
enhanced its unique collection of services to support
teaching and learning at Memorial:
 Core educational technologies were enhanced for oncampus courses and online course delivery, including
technologies such as D2L (learning management system),
Online Rooms (virtual classroom tool), ePortfolio (for
collecting/organizing electronic artifacts), and lecture/web
capture (record and share lectures), among others. As an
example, while D2L is used to deliver all online offerings,
in the previous academic year, over 50 per cent of oncampus courses also actively used D2L to supplement oncampus instruction. In that same time period, the number
of technology-enabled course sites grew to 2,966, an
increase of 22.7 per cent since 2012-13.
 CITL partnered with individual faculties and schools to
embed staff with specialized skills that help to meet the
teaching and learning needs within the respective
academic units.
 CITL established the Teaching and Learning Exchange (TLX)
to provide a collaborative classroom space where
educators and instructional staff can enhance their
teaching practice and discover best practices for
integrating educational technologies into their courses.
Educators may attend scheduled workshops and drop-in
clinics, participate in individual consultations with CITL
staff, or drop in as needed to address particular teaching
challenges or access specific content development
software and other educational technologies that may
help in the development of content for courses or
presentations.
 Two new CITL educator development programs were
implemented:
1) Program in Graduate Student
Supervision (for Faculty) is a nine-week program with four
synchronous sessions offered three to four times per
academic year to 15 participants. 2) Teaching Assistant
Training Program provides a one-day, face-to-face
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017

11

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

12

intensive workshop to graduate student teaching
assistants to approximately 40 participants.
The Office of the Chief Information Officer (CIO), CITL and
Memorial Libraries partnered to initiate an IT Student
Services Advisory Committee that will provide student
perspectives on the technology needs of Memorial’s student
body.
The Office of the CIO, CITL and other academic support
services partnered on the development and implementation
of an enterprise-wide Identity and Access Management
(IAM) system. The system provides users with a single ID to
access all systems of Memorial.
The Office of the CIO initiated a student lifecycle project to
enable a student-focused approach for process (re)design
and system development to provide a starting point for
developing great services to students and a framework for a
common understanding and approach. Objectives include:
map and examine existing processes, process owners and
supporting systems throughout the student lifecycle to
understand intersections and identify opportunities for
improvement; create an integrated, student-centric
approach for process design and system development; and
ultimately, improve the student experience.
The Writing Centre received funding under the TLF to
systematically attend to reading and writing challenges of
today’s students.
Research on graduate degree level learning outcomes is
being concluded and prepared for university consultations.
As a pilot, the curriculum of one or two graduate programs
will be further assessed relative to desired learning
outcomes to ensure relevance of program requirements and
that program goals are being met.
The First Year Success Program prepared: a white paper on
Making Memorial Student Ready which includes reflections
on first year success as the work of a community; and a
document of recommendations for programming for student
transition.
These documents support the future
development of transitional programming at Memorial.
In December 2016, the Provost appointed a teaching and
learning review committee with a mandate to: 1) assess the
outcomes of Memorial’s Teaching and Learning Framework
(2011-2016); 2) determine, through consultations on all of
Memorial’s campuses, where the current teaching and
learning environment was strong and where it could be

MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND

improved; and 3) make recommendations for a renewed
Framework, including new and integrated approaches to
program delivery, curriculum development and student
services and support. The Teaching and Learning Framework
Strategic Plan 2014-2017, which grew out of the original
framework, expired March 31, 2017, presenting an
opportunity to look back on the success and strengths of the
first framework, build upon them, and move forward with a
renewed vision for teaching and learning at Memorial that
reflects the current and diverse academic needs of students,
faculty and staff. The review committee submitted a draft
report on its work to the Provost on March 31st and it is being
reviewed by the university community for feedback.
Actions were also taken to enhance the teaching and learning
environment that were campus-specific. Examples include:
Grenfell Campus
• Offered a pilot program, the Global Learning Village, in which
international and domestic students were paired together in
residence rooms. The goal was to implement a core value of
inclusion and diversity within the campus. Approximately 60
students participated.
• Student Services received the CACUSS (Canadian Association
of College and University Student Services) Innovation Award
for Steps to Success, an innovative program designed to
support students in their second semester. This is a national
award, and this is the second time in three years that the
campus has received this award.
• Health Services expanded, offering physician clinics every
week. This was complementing services in physiotherapy,
chiropractic sessions, and massage sessions. Counselling
services are also part of this unit. Total student use increased
by 925 per cent from the previous year.
• Made “Lecture Capture” possible in one classroom by
utilizing the Teaching and Learning Fund. Students have
found it useful for pre-test review, for going over complex
material and taking notes, and in the event of sickness, from
missed classes. In addition, Lecture Capture is ideal for many
students with learning disabilities.
• Provided Teaching and Learning Fund grants for faculty and
staff to undertake teaching projects that would otherwise
not be possible. The grants have included projects in
experiential learning, flipped learning, and other classroom
techniques.
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017
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Marine Institute:
• Developed new research-based PhD and masters programs
in fisheries science. Students will conduct cutting-edge
research and complete courses in programming, statistics,
and study design. The launch of the fisheries science
programs marks the first time the Marine Institute has
offered a doctoral program in its 53 year history.
• Carried out an Academic Unit Planning (AUP) process in the
School of Maritime Studies. AUP is carried out by units and
programs under the authority of the Academic Unit Planning
Committee (AUPC) of Senate. AUP provides an opportunity
for the unit or program to work collegially to sustain
successful activities and introduce change where necessary.
The Labrador Institute:
• Delivered the second year of Inuit Bachelor of Education
program in partnerships with the Faculty of Education and
Nunatsiavut Government.
• Continued with Labrador-based masters of Education
cohort, delivered to teachers currently working in Labrador.
• Offered courses in archaeology, folklore and linguistics in
partnership with Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences.
• Supervised graduate students in marine ecology, earth
sciences, soil science, public health, epidemiology,
environmental policy, geography, and archaeology, at
Memorial University, University of Guelph, and McGill
University.
• Provided employment and training for summer students in
soil science, library services, and administration.
• Developed and delivered directed reading course for PhD
student.
• Developed archaeology field school to be delivered in North
West River in summer 2017.
• Developed and delivered a land-based education course.
2. Enhanced

In 2016-17, there were a number of initiatives to enhance the
connections connections in support of teaching and learning:
among
• To fulfill its mandate, the teaching and learning review
educators,
committee appointed by the Provost held university-wide
students,
consultations bringing together a broad range of students,
staff and the
faculty, instructors, and staff to share their knowledge,
broader
experience, needs, opinions and concerns about teaching
community
and learning at Memorial. Consultations were held for the St.
to support
John’s, Grenfell and Marine Institute Campuses. The
teaching
Labrador Institute also participated.
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and
learning.

•

•

•

•

Plans for the first Teaching and Learning Day to be held in
2017 were initiated by the CTLs in consultation with the
Manager of the TLF. The day is planned for educators to
explore individual and shared experiences in teaching and
learning at Memorial through reflections, conversations and
activities centered on ideas of transformational learning and
community building.
New integrated learning programs were developed to offer
students a more holistic experience that contributes to civic
engagement and community development. The programs
integrate teaching, research, and community involvement
consisting of cross-discipline faculty members, university
staff and community partners. A feasibility study and
implementation strategy is underway for a program called
Semester in Collaborative Action on the St. John’s campus. A
similar program called City Studio is being implemented at
the Grenfell campus.
Student proposals were received for the second competition
for the student award for self-directed learning. Projects
created and undertaken by students engaged educator and
community support.
CTLs and the TLF Manager, in collaboration with CITL,
continued to coordinate approaches to information/idea
exchange within and across disciplines and campuses,
including: multi-campus guest speaker presentations,
webcast to all campuses, student and educator discussion
forums, focus groups, surveys etc.; and regular sessions of
exchange and community development among the CTLs.

Campus-specific Initiatives implemented include:
Grenfell Campus
• Successfully rolled out the OPEN Grenfell project. The name
and acronym, OPEN, represents the goals of the initiative,
which are to overcome, probe, enlighten, and negotiate
ideological differences and potential areas of dissent, while
also fostering inclusiveness, student retention and cultural
enlightenment. Organizers hosted a variety of public events,
reaching out to the Grenfell community in pursuit of a
reflexive dialogue about diverse cultural experiences.
• Supported instructional development and promoted
teaching excellence at Grenfell Campus, with a weekly
instructional development seminar, two 2-part teaching PD
sessions (December and April), a symposium on innovation
in teaching (March), and a plan to offer a PD session on
internationalization of the classroom (next September).
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017
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•

•

Identified a Chair in Teaching and Learning, with a primary
goal of contributing to excellence in teaching and learning
through initiatives designed to engage students, faculty, and
staff in critical conversations about diversity, culture, access
and inclusion in the university community. The Chair, and the
committee that was associated with it, sponsored campus
conversation events, artist performances, keynote talks with
visiting academics and activists, panels and a poetry slam.
Led the university library system in the implementation of a
new and very much improved course resource system. This
new software makes it easier for faculty to create lists and to
embed those lists in D2L shells and it provides students with
more online access to course material. In the Winter 2017
semester approximately 1200 items were put on reserve at
the Ferriss Hodgett Library (compared to 368 in Winter 2016)
and 85 per cent of these items were available electronically.
In May 2017, this new system was implemented university
wide.

Marine Institute
• Continued its efforts to connect to the broader community,
particularly through youth engagement initiatives and
community events, through the Office of Student
Recruitment’s Youth and the Oceans conferences, and high
school student competitions.
• Hosted its Career Synergy Series throughout 2016-17. The
various events provide learning and networking
opportunities for students, employers and alumni. Fifteen
companies visited the Institute between February and April
2017 to present to students and conduct interviews for work
terms (over 110 student interviews were conducted).
The Labrador Institute
• Launched the first International Indigenous Internship. The
intern worked in Finland, Norway and Labrador.
• Hosted Nunatsiavut Government Inuttitut training modules.
• Provided educational resources through library services,
committee participation and community presentations.
• Advised on learning opportunities related to communitybased and community-led research, Indigenous-led
research, partnerships and relationships-building, and
reconciliation in higher education.
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The initiatives outlined above demonstrate that Memorial University achieved its
objective to have implemented activities to strengthen its teaching and learning in 201617. The section below provides a summary of initiatives undertaken to achieve the 20142017 plan goal to have strengthened its teaching and learning.

GOAL 1: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have strengthened
its teaching and learning.
Measure:

Strengthened teaching and learning.

INDICATOR

2014-17 RESULTS

1. Strengthened
programs,
services and
facilities to
support
teaching and
learning.

Memorial has strengthened programs, services and facilities to
support teaching and learning mainly through: the renaming
and refocusing of CITL; the organization of CTLs; the realignment of technologies and systems; and the funding of pilot
projects to explore new approaches to teaching and learning.
These new entities and initiatives have served to facilitate
greater engagement of students, educators, staff and the
community through new and improved programs, projects, and
discussion forums and events. This has been demonstrated by
uptake for activities undertaken by the CTLs, engagement of
students in self-directed learning, and participation in the
growing suite of Educator Development programs of CITL.

2. Facilitated
engagement
of students,
educators,
staff and the
community
to support
teaching and
learning.

From 2014-2017, great advances have been made to refine and
build upon the teaching and learning experience for faculty,
instructors, students and staff in all corners of the university.
There is no doubt the university has made advancements
towards strategic enhancement of teaching and learning. The
initiatives developed over the period have served to create a
pan-university interest in improving the overall teaching and
learning environment. For example, over the last three years,
the Marine Institute invested in the development and
enhancement of campus space to promote greater student
engagement. Furthermore, Memorial introduced new
approaches (such as presentations, discussion forums and
retreats) to promote information exchange within and across
disciplines and campuses. Since 2014-15, a number of retreats
allowed individuals from the university community to explore
challenges and potential strategies to move forward on a
number of issues. At this juncture, the university has taken the
opportunity to look back on the success and strengths of the
last three years, build upon them, and move forward. The
university-wide consultations held by the teaching and learning
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017
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review committee will lay the foundation for a renewed vision
for teaching and learning at Memorial that reflects the current
and diverse academic needs of students, faculty and staff.
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ISSUE 2: RESEARCH, SCHOLARSHIP AND CREATIVE ACTIVITY

Research and the production of scholarly knowledge enriches the student experience,
enhances teaching and learning, builds reputation, supports the growth of faculty and
stimulates meaningful partnerships. In 2011, Memorial established the Research Strategy
Framework to support the university’s vision to “be one of the most distinguished public
universities in Canada and beyond”.
The Strategic Research Intensity Plan 2014-2020 provided additional guidance regarding
the university’s approach to research. In the words of Dr. Richard Marceau, who was
responsible for its development, the plan “reflects a synergistic and integrated approach
for strengthening all aspects of research at Memorial University, including scholarship and
creative activities, as well as the translation of knowledge into products, practices and
policies, and other forms of community engagement.” The university has pursued the
major recommendations of this plan with a good measure of success and has laid the
groundwork for even greater things to come.

Objective 2016-2017: March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have
implemented activities to enhance its creation and profile of research and
scholarly knowledge.
Measure:

Implemented activities to enhance creation and profile of research and
scholarly knowledge.

INDICATOR
2016-17 RESULTS
1. Enhanced
During 2016-17, Memorial continued to enhance supports and
supports and
services to individuals and groups engaged in research:
services to
• In April 2017, Research Grant and Contract Services, a unit
individuals and
within the Office of the Vice-President (Research),
groups
launched a new searchable database allowing researchers
engaged in
to easily find details on internal and external funding
research and
opportunities. Undergraduate and graduate students,
creation of
faculty, researchers, administrators, staff and postscholarly
doctoral fellows can access the database and subscribe to
knowledge.
a new, weekly email listserv to receive highlighted funding
opportunities.
• In March 2017, the Atlantic Facilities and Research
Equipment Database (AFRED), open-access, searchable,
online database, was officially launched to match
researchers with available, specialized research
infrastructure at Memorial University and other
institutions throughout Atlantic Canada. It provides
industry, academic, non-profit and government
researchers, as well as entrepreneurs, with free access to
a growing database of nearly 400 pieces of research
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equipment available in 80 facilities at 19 institutions.
AFRED is led by Science Atlantic, a non-profit collaborative
association of 16 Atlantic Canadian post-secondary and
research institutions, including Memorial University. The
Federal Government invested $198,474 in AFRED through
the Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency’s business
development program and the Natural Sciences and
Engineering Research Council.
Memorial launched a review of its current Intellectual
Property (IP) Policy and solicited feedback from the
university community and external stakeholders on a
proposed draft policy. The draft IP policy, as well as draft
procedures, supporting documents and additional
information were available online for review and
feedback. The policy and related documents will be
revised based on input received during the consultation
period and the final policy will go to Senate and the Board
of Regents for approval.
The Memorial Researcher Portal, which is a web-based
tool for research data management, was updated to
enhance its usability for a growing number of users. The
software, which launched last December, is currently
aimed at researchers requiring ethics certifications. Since
its launch, the number of people using the portal has
increased from about 450 in March 2016 to more than
1,000. The portal provides researchers with a one-stop,
online approvals process to the boards.
In July 2016, the Technology Transfer and
Commercialization Office (TTCO) was created to support
industrial
liaison,
technology
transfer
and
commercialization at the university. In January 2017,
Springboard Atlantic Inc., a network of Atlantic Canadian
universities and colleges that includes Memorial, received
more than $9.2 million in federal funding to turn promising
research into new products and services. This three-year
funding commitment was made under the Atlantic Canada
Opportunities Agency’s Atlantic Innovation Fund to
support 30 commercialization officers in the Atlantic
region. Memorial’s portion of the funds supports four
officers within TTCO.
Grenfell Campus conducted and disseminated the results
of a functional review of the Research Office at Grenfell,
with 29 recommendations for action.
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2. Celebrated
achievements
in research
and the
creation of
scholarly
knowledge.

The Labrador Institute made improvements to Labrador
Institute Research Station to enhance usability,
productivity, and scientific advancements. They also
hosted or participated in a variety of meetings to enhance
the research and scholarly activity at the Labrador Institute
and in Labrador, including working with delegations to
enhance partnerships, bringing together researchers with
new networks or opportunities, and regular community
meetings.
Marine Institute:
 Developed a draft three year strategic research plan
aimed at continuing to support and grow research.
 Worked to develop a new research website to
provide improved support to internal and external
researchers as well as highlighting research
capabilities to external partners (ongoing).
 Secured a candidate for the Natural Sciences and
Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) Tier
II Canada Research Chair in Ocean Mapping.

Memorial continued to promote and celebrate extraordinary
research and its potential impacts on the wider community.
Some of the channels that were used to highlight impactful
research stories included:
• During the Summer of 2016, a series of research profiles
were published in The Telegram and on its website. This
series profiled the important work and impact of Memorial
researchers from a variety of research disciplines.
• In December 2016, the Research Report 2014-16,
highlighting the impact of Memorial’s research that is
being felt throughout our province and around the world,
was issued online. With the launch of the Gazette news
website in January of this year, enhanced online
communications became possible. Each of the report’s
main stories were shared on the Gazette every two weeks
from March to September. Profiles were also shared on
social media and videos featuring researchers were
uploaded to Memorial’s YouTube channel. The report
featured researchers from Grenfell Campus; the Marine
Institute; the Labrador Institute; the Faculties of Business
Administration, Education, Engineering and Applied
Science, Humanities and Social Sciences; Medicine; and
Science; and the schools of Human Kinetics and
Recreation, Music, Nursing, Pharmacy and Social Work.
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The Associate Vice-President Research at Grenfell Campus
shared faculty research achievements and interests
through a monthly “Field Notes” newsletter, which is
widely distributed.
• The Labrador Institute hosted and co-organized the first
biennial Labrador Research Forum, in partnership with the
Innu Nation, Nunatsiavut Government, NunatuKavut
Community Corporation, the Town of Happy Valley-Goose
Bay, the Torngat Secretariat, and the Department of
Fisheries and Oceans. Brought together 170 researchers,
academics, government representatives, community
members, and health professionals to highlight and
celebrate research in Labrador.
Memorial University is committed to celebrating the research
achievements of faculty members and students. Below are
some of Memorial’s most prestigious and innovative examples
of research excellence:
• In December faculty members were recognized for their
exceptional contribution to research and teaching at
Memorial’s President’s Awards reception.
• A faculty member from Faculty of Business Administration,
was presented the John Lewis Paton Distinguished
University Professorship.
• Three faculty members were named University Research
Professors, which is a designation above the rank of
professor and goes to a faculty member who has
demonstrated a consistently high level of scholarship and
whose research is of a truly international stature.
• Two faculty members from the Faculty of Education and
the Faculty of Science received the President’s Award for
Outstanding Research.
• A faculty member from the Department of Psychology,
Faculty of Science, was awarded the President’s Award for
Outstanding Graduate and Post-graduate Supervision.
•

Memorial University’s faculty members and students have
also been recognized nationally for their research excellence:
• Two master’s students in the Department of Psychology,
Faculty of Science, were among the 25 finalists in the Social
Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada
(SSHRC) Storytellers Challenge in April 2016.
• In December 2016, it was announced that a PhD
researcher in the Faculty of Medicine discovered a gene
mutation that is linked to significant hearing loss in young
22

MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND

•

•

•

•

•

children in Newfoundland and Labrador. He is
collaborating with a team of geneticists and clinicians at
the Centre for Genomics-Based Research and
Development in Hearing Science in Grand Falls-Windsor,
which was established in April of this year. Their research
was recently published in the academic journal Human
Genetics.
The Canadian Academy of Engineering (CAE) inducted a
Memorial alumna and the Dean of Engineering and
Applied Science to its membership in June 2016. Both
individuals have made significant contributions to the field
of engineering and applied science both within the
province of Newfoundland and Labrador and beyond.
An Associate Professor of composition and electronic
music with Memorial’s School of Music received a Juno
nomination for classical composition of the year, Dark Star
Requiem.
A Tier 1 Canada Research Chair (CRC) in Ethnomusicology
was awarded to Memorial in December 2016. Tier 1
Chairs, tenable for seven years and renewable, are for
outstanding researchers acknowledged by their peers as
world leaders in their fields. Memorial is now home to a
total of 11 CRCs with several nominations pending.
A University Research Professor in the Department of
Geography, Faculty of Humanities and Social Sciences, and
his team received the Arctic Inspiration Prize (AIP) in
December 2016 for the project SmartICE (Sea-Ice
Monitoring and Real-Time Information for Coastal
Environments). This sea-ice monitoring system combines
traditional ice knowledge with the latest satellite imaging
and ice-sensing technology, allowing coastal community
members to plan safe passage on sea ice.
Two researchers from the School of Music were elected
Fellows of the Royal Society of Canada, the highest honor
for Canadian scholars. The society comprises the
Academies of Arts, Humanities and Sciences. Scholars are
chosen by peers for their exceptional contributions to their
respective fields. In addition, a Professor of Civil
(Environmental) Engineering, Faculty of Engineering and
Applied Science, was among the latest inductees to the
College of New Scholars, Artists and Scientists of the Royal
Society of Canada. The college is the country’s first
national system of multidisciplinary recognition for the
emerging generation of Canada’s intellectual leadership.
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017
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3. Enhanced
funding to
support
research and
creation of
scholarly
knowledge.
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A faculty member in Business Administration received the
Haim Falk Award, which recognizes excellence in scholarly
achievements that contribute to the advancement of
accounting thought.
A faculty member from Marine Institute was named a
James M. Flaherty Scholar which aims to contribute to the
academic links between Canada and Ireland.

During 2016-17, Memorial continued to secure funding to
support research and the creation of scholarly knowledge
through external funding opportunities. Selected examples
include:
• Research MUCEP (Memorial Undergraduate Career
Experience Program) placements were created to provide
greater opportunities for undergraduate training and
engagement, and stimulates a heightened interest of
graduate studies and research careers among undergrads.
The Office of the Vice-President (Research) supported 87
research-based positions through the MUCEP program in
2016-17. April 1, 2016 to March 31, 2017, allocating
$50,000 which was matched by $50,000 from Career
Development and Experiential Learning.
• Memorial’s undergraduates were invited to apply for the
University Student Summer Internship Program (USSIP).
USSIP provides students with the opportunity to carry out
a 13-week (or 16-week) research development work term
under the supervision of a full-time faculty member or
regular term appointee. The USSIP provides up to $4,500
towards the award and supervisors will contribute
additional funds. In total, 44 applications were received
and the program funded ten applications. Awards went to
undergraduate students from the Faculties of Science,
Medicine, Pharmacy, and Humanities and Social Sciences.
• The Seed, Bridge and Multidisciplinary Fund provides new,
“early days” innovative research projects, provides
valuable bridge funding for researchers between grants
and encourages the development of multidisciplinary
research activities which align with the priority research
themes of the Research Strategy Framework. There were
two competitions in 2016-17: May 1, 2016, and November
30, 2016. During the May competition, 33 applications
were received and the fund supported 22 applications.
During the November competition, 29 applications were
received and the fund supported 21 applications. The
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combined total funding provided during the May and
November competitions was $411,073.
In February 2017, a faculty member in the Department of
Ocean and Naval Architectural Engineering, Faculty of
Engineering and Applied Science, was named the NSERCHusky Industrial Research Chair in Safety at Sea. Over a
five-year period, multiple sources will contribute a total of
$2.65 million to support research.
In March 2017, a faculty member in the Department of
Electrical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering and Applied
Science, was named as the Research Chair in Subsea
Communications. This new Research Chair expands
Memorial’s ongoing partnership with Statoil. Memorial is
contributing $1 million over five years towards this
partnership and the Chair programs.
In March 2017, a faculty member in the Department of
Civil Engineering, Faculty of Engineering and Applied
Science, was named Research Chair in Seafloor Mechanics.
This new Research Chair expands Memorial’s ongoing
partnership with Statoil. Memorial is contributing $1
million over five years towards this partnership and the
Chair programs.
A faculty member in the Department of Ocean Sciences,
and a team of collaborators from University of Prince
Edward Island (UPEI) and industry partner EWOS/Cargill,
received $4.5 million in funding to develop new
therapeutic diets for farmed Atlantic salmon. The project
was one of six national research collaborations awarded
through Genome Canada’s Genomic Applications
Partnership Program.
A faculty member in the School of Music, and a faculty
member in the Department of Chemistry, Faculty of
Science, were recipients of the Terra Nova Young
Innovator Award in January 2017. The award is provided
on behalf of the partners in the Terra Nova oil field by
Suncor as operator. Each recipient was awarded $50,000
in order to fund their pioneering research proposals.

Memorial was particularly successful in securing funding to
support research infrastructure:
• The university received $681,418 from the Canada
Foundation for Innovation’s John R. Evans Leaders Fund in
February 2017, allowing 11 university researchers working
on five diverse projects to purchase sophisticated new
ANNUAL REPORT 2016 – 2017
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tools, technology and equipment. Research teams in the
Faculty of Science, Faculty of Medicine and the School of
Pharmacy are benefitting from this infrastructure support.
The John R. Evans Leaders Fund provides researchers with
critical infrastructure required to be or become leaders in
their field.
In September 2016, the Federal Government announced
funding of $93.732 million for the creation of the Ocean
Frontier Institute (OFI), an historic partnership between
Dalhousie
University,
Memorial
University
of
Newfoundland and the University of Prince Edward Island
(UPEI). The OFI will focus on solutions for safe and
sustainable ocean development. Memorial will have a
leadership role in four key areas: sustainable fisheries;
sustainable aquaculture; marine safety; and ocean data
and technology. The investment is through the Canada
First Research Excellence Fund (CFREF). Memorial’s joint
initiative with Dalhousie and UPEI received the largest
amount awarded through the latest CFREF competition.
The federal funding will allow Memorial to leverage
millions more from industry, government, other partners
and the university.
The Federal Government announced a $14.4 million
investment to replace two of Memorial’s aging animal
research care facilities and ensure the university can
continue to conduct its biomedical research activities and
continue to offer certified degree programs. Memorial will
provide an additional $15.6 million for this project.
In June 2016, Memorial’s state-of-the-art Core Science
Facility received $125 million in joint Federal-Provincial
funding to advance Memorial’s teaching, learning and
research capacity across multiple disciplines. The research
and teaching space will be occupied primarily by the
Departments of Biochemistry, Biology and Chemistry in
the Faculty of Science, and the Department of Electrical
and Computer Engineering in the Faculty of Engineering
and Applied Science. It will also promote inter- and multidisciplinary approaches to science, maximizing the flow of
information and interaction among and within disciplines.
The total estimated global project budget is $325 million,
with $99,855,277 coming from the Government of Canada
through the New Building Canada Fund’s ProvincialTerritorial Infrastructure Component–National and
Regional Projects, and $25,144,723 coming from the
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Government of Newfoundland and Labrador. Memorial
University will be responsible for the remaining project
costs. The building is scheduled to open in the Fall of 2020.
Memorial University researchers were among the recipients of
grants announced by the tri-council agencies:
• In June 2016, a total of $6.79 million over five years was
announced by the Natural Sciences and Engineering
Research Council of Canada for 53 Memorial projects led
by early-stage, mid-career and established researchers, as
well as doctoral students.
 Of the 45 Discovery Grants announced, 24 were
awarded to the Faculty of Science; ten within the
Faculty of Engineering and Applied Science; six in
the Faculty of Medicine; three for the Grenfell
Campus; and one each for the School of Human
Kinetics and Recreation and the Fisheries and
Marine Institute.
 One Discovery Accelerator Supplement was
awarded to the Faculty of Science. It provides
substantial and timely resources to researchers
who have a superior research program that is
highly rated in terms of originality and innovation.
 A combined total of $591,500 in scholarships from
NSERC’s Postgraduate Scholarships-Doctoral
Program were awarded to seven students: five
doctoral students from the Faculty of Science; one
student in the Faculty of Humanities and Social
Sciences; and one student in the Faculty of
Medicine.
• A new inter-provincial research study led by Memorial is
looking at ways to improve the well-being of young people
living with type one diabetes. In June 2016, researchers
received a $75,000 grant from the Canadian Institutes of
Health Research (CIHR) which is allowing them to examine
the experiences of adolescents and young adults with the
disease transitioning into the adult care system in two
provinces: Newfoundland and Labrador and Ontario. This
CIHR grant is being matched by additional funds from the
Janeway Children’s Hospital Foundation, Memorial’s
Faculty of Medicine, and the University of Toronto.
• In September 2016, SSHRC awarded more than $2.1
million to 22 researchers at Memorial for projects ranging
from social entrepreneurship to child psychology to
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politics in the era of globalized finance. The grants support
research led by the Schools of Music and Social Work;
Faculties of Science, Business Administration and
Humanities and Social Sciences; and Grenfell Campus.
Among the funding announced, there were:
 Eight Insight Grants for a combined investment of
$1,265,975;
 One Partnership Development Grant for an
investment of $169,409;
 Thirteen Insight Development Grants for a
combined investment of $670,799.
At the Labrador Institute:
• Researcher and LI Staff were involved in over $7 million in
research funding from a variety of sources:
• $1.2 million CIHR grant to establish an Indigenous health
mentorship network in Atlantic Canada, with the
Labrador Institute as one of two hubs.
• Two $2.5 million CIHR environment and health initiative
grants to work on health research in Labrador, in
partnership with Nunatsiavut and NunatuKavut.
• ResDa funding for waste management study with Town
of Happy Valley-Goose Bay: $40,000.
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Overall, $9.86 million in research related funding was secured
by the Marine Institute in 2016-17. Examples of some of the
projects include:
• Leading ‘Module H: Sustainable capture fisheries and their
ecosystems’ of the successful Ocean Frontiers Institute
(OFI) project. Module H is valued at $9 million. MI is also
playing a key role in other work packages within OFI.
• Secured over $170,000 of research funding through NRC IRAP.
• Secured a $1.5 million investment from the Atlantic
Canada Opportunities Agency supporting research and
training in the aquaculture and ocean technology sectors.
• Developed a partnership with Ocean Networks Canada
(ONC) to provide 40 per cent of SmartBay’s operational
cost per year up to $400,000.
• A faculty member from the Centre for Fisheries Ecosystem
Research (CFER) was part of a research team that was
awarded a NSERC Strategic Partnership Grant. $260,000
will support work in northern Labrador and Nunavut to
sample capelin population and support grad student
research.
MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND

4. Enhanced
engagement
of external
collaborators
and
community
partners in
research and
creation of
scholarly
knowledge.

In 2016-17, Memorial continued to engage external partners
and collaborators in research:
• Just over $40 million was committed by industry involving
171 industry partners in 249 research projects compared to
$31 million committed by industry involving 201 industry
partners in 280 research projects in 2015-16.
• In April 2016, a new centre opened in Grand Falls-Windsor
in central Newfoundland to study families with genetic
forms of hearing loss. Their goal is to model hearing defects
and develop better algorithms for hearing aids and other
devices. If successful, this research could improve the lives
of people here at home and around the world. The new
state-of-the-art genomics-based R&D centre for hearing
science, is an ongoing collaboration with the EXCITE
Corporation, the town’s not-for-profit business
development
unit.
Memorial,
Atlantic
Canada
Opportunities Agency, and the Provincial Government
invested more than $1 million in infrastructure support for
the new facility. A professor in the Faculty of Medicine, is
the Principal Investigator for the project. Scientists,
audiologists and computer engineers from Memorial, the
University of Western Ontario and McMaster University are
collaborating on the innovative research study.
• The Journal of Ocean Technology, a Memorial publication
celebrated its tenth anniversary in June 2016. The editorial
team behind the JOT published four times a year by the
Marine Institute, is encouraging more researchers on
Memorial’s campuses to consider the journal’s worldwide
distribution and loyal readership when looking to showcase
their work.
• In May 2016, the Newfoundland and Labrador Hydraulic
Fracturing Review Panel chaired by the Associate VicePresident (Research), Memorial University, released its
final report. Appointed by the Minister of Natural
Resources, Government of Newfoundland and Labrador,
the panel conducted a public review of the socio-economic
and environmental implications of hydraulic fracturing in
western Newfoundland. Its mandate was also to make
recommendations on whether or not hydraulic fracturing
should be undertaken in western Newfoundland. The panel
had more than 600 public submissions.
• A new website focused on Labrador Inuit cultural research
was launched in May 2016 due in large part to a $7.4 million
research partnership led by a professor emeritus in the
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School of Music. The Tradition and Transition Partnership
site includes photos, articles and announcements regarding
the project, which is supported by SSHRC, Memorial
University, the Nunatsiavut Government and more than 20
other organizations. The research partnership merges
collaborative academic research with traditional
knowledge for the protection, preservation and
revitalization of Labrador Inuit culture and language.
• In November 2016, the Genesis Centre announced a
partnership with Toronto-based MaRS Discovery District,
the largest innovation hub in the country, to bring its
unique programming to Newfoundland and Labrador.
MaRS on the Rock (MOTR), a 14-week program, includes inperson workshops focused on business model design,
financing and entrepreneurial leadership, and will be
geared toward aspiring business leaders, educators,
corporations, post-secondary students and government
agencies. The new program, which highlights the benefits
of innovation within government and the workplace,
started in January 2017.
• More than 400 Inuit, researchers, artists, community
leaders, tradition-bearers and students participated in the
20th biennial Inuit Studies Conference, a four-day event
held in October 2016. The conference was hosted by
Memorial and the Nunatsiavut Government and ran from
October 7-10 on the St. John’s campus, with a variety of
community events, performances and special activities
happening throughout the capital city. Organizers planned
200 discussions, workshops and other sessions focused on
the theme of Inuit traditions. Delegates also explored a
wide range of disciplines including education, housing,
health, language, archaeology, the creative arts, the
environment, public policy and many more.
• The research of a Memorial scientist from the Department
of Geography, and his team was highlighted on February 6,
2017, in the House of Commons by Peter Schiefke, Member
of Parliament for Vaudreuil-Soulanges, Quebec. Mr.
Schiefke met with Inuit youth on the Nunavut communities
of Pond Inlet and Iqaluit and noted he had an opportunity
to see first-hand Memorial’s SmartICE (Sea-ice Monitoring
And Real-Time Information for Coastal Environments)
project that is developing invaluable technology for
northern communities. SmartICE provides locally relevant
information for sea-ice travel in two pilot communities —
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Nain, Labrador, and Pond Inlet, Nunavut — where sea-ice
is part of the winter highway, the travel route to country
food and a fundamental part of culture and well-being.
• The Labrador Institute has an extensive number of partners
nationally and internationally, including: Innu Nation,
NunatuKavut
Community
Council,
Nunatsiavut
Government, Labrador Grenfell Health, Nunavut Research
Institute, Nunavut Tunngavik Inc., Newfoundland and
Labrador English School Board, Town of Happy ValleyGoose Bay, Hibernia Management Company.
• Grenfell Campus conducted inter-campus visits to share
information and research (i.e. Botanical Gardens, Labrador
Institute), forged Provincial partnerships to coordinate and
execute 2016 Agriculture Symposium in St. John’s and
engaged in collaborations focusing on Innovation Strategy.
• The majority of MI’s research activity involve academic,
community or industry partners. Some specific examples
include:
 A key role in OFI (the largest single investment in oceans
research in Atlantic Canada) partnering with the St.
John’s Campus of Memorial as well as Dalhousie and
UPEI.
 A new memorandum of understanding (MOU) with the
Canadian Ocean Mapping Research and Education
Network. A multi-institutional network aimed at
developing research activities and educational
programs to increase Canada’s capacity in ocean
mapping.
 A collaboration with Lockheed Martin Canada to
develop maritime civilian applications for their VISTA
simulation technology.
 Continued work with AIT in Tromso, Norway on ocean
survival research.
 Continued development of its collaborative partnership
with the Irish Marine Institute through such initiatives
as; the linkage between SmartBay, Placentia Bay
Newfoundland and SmartBay, Galway Bay, Ireland and
the charter of the RV Celtic Explorer for the
overwintering cod survey.
The initiatives outlined above helped Memorial University achieve its 2016-17 objective
to have implemented activities to enhance its creation and profile of research and
scholarly knowledge.
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The table below outlines additional initiatives undertaken to achieve the 2014-17 goal of
enhancing its creation and profile of research and scholarly knowledge. The indicators,
and associated initiatives, are relevant to both measures related to the goal (i.e.,
enhanced research profile and enhanced research productivity).

Goal 2: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have enhanced its
creation and profile of research and scholarly knowledge.
Measure:

Enhanced creation and profile of research and scholarly knowledge.

INDICATOR
1. Supported
the
achievement
of
excellence in
research and
creation of
scholarly
knowledge.

2014-17 RESULTS
Over the period covered by the plan, Memorial took a number
of actions to support the achievement of excellence in research
and the creation of scholarly knowledge. In 2014-15, the Vice
President (research) initiated a review of the systems and
structures related to research and contract support services that
resulted in a major restructuring to create efficiencies and
provide better service to Memorial’s researchers and external
clients. The Strategic Research Intensity plan was created which
had 12 recommendations designed to strengthen all aspects of
research at Memorial. An innovation strategy was developed to
help increase Memorial’s performance related to
commercialization of research outcomes. A review and
consultation regarding the Intellectual Property (IP) Policy was
commenced.
Services available to researchers were also improved. The
Memorial Researcher Portal was launched in 2015 and
enhanced in 2016. It allows researchers to apply online to the
various research ethics boards. The Technology Transfer and
Commercialization Office (TTCO) was created to support
industrial liaison, technology transfer and commercialization at
the university. The Atlantic Facilities and Research Equipment
Database (AFRED), an open-access, searchable, online database,
was created to match researchers with available, specialized
research infrastructure at Memorial University and other
institutions throughout Atlantic Canada.
Innovative mechanisms to facilitate research were initiated such
as the Seed, Bridge and Multidisciplinary Fund which provides
new, “early days” innovative research projects, provides
valuable bridge funding for researchers between grants and
encourages the development of multidisciplinary research
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activities which align with the priority research themes of the
Research Strategy Framework.
Memorial was very successful in attracting federal, provincial
and private sector funding to support research infrastructure.
Examples include:
 Core Science Building ($125 million)
 Animal care facility ($14.4 million)
 Dobbin Genetics Research Centre ($29.1 million)
 Hibernia Offshore Operations Simulator Facility ($6.1
million).
 the Suncor Energy Offshore Research and
Development Centre ($6.8 million)
2. Engaged the
local,
national and
international
community
in research
and creation
of scholarly
knowledge.

Memorial has been very successful in engaging the local,
national and international community in research and creation
of scholarly knowledge. The Oceans Frontier Institute, a
collaboration between Memorial, Dalhousie and UPEI valued at
$93 million is a very tangible and recent example of this success.
Private sector involvement in research at Memorial has also
been significant. Over the three years covered by this plan,
approximately $100 million was committed to 833 research
projects. The Labrador Institute and Grenfell Campus engage
with a multitude of local groups in their respective regions in
such areas as salmon genetics, sub-surface soil contamination,
forestry, and agriculture. The Marine Institute has a number of
memorandums of understanding to engage in collaborative
research with other institutions, government agencies, and the
private sector.
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ISSUE 3: PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT

Over the years, Memorial has established a reputation for leveraging the expertise of its
faculty and staff and bringing individuals, knowledge and resources together to solve
problems and achieve regional and provincial goals. As the only university in
Newfoundland and Labrador, Memorial has had a long-standing role in connecting and
supporting the people of the province and beyond. The scope and magnitude of the work
in this area has only continued to grow, involving all campuses and areas of the province.
The importance of public engagement at Memorial was further strengthened in 2011 with
the development of the Public Engagement Framework which outlined a vision for
Memorial University to be a world leader in this area. The Office of Public Engagement
and the Harris Centre lead the university’s public engagement efforts, serving as facilitator
and initial point of contact for the community.

Objective 2016-2017: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have
implemented activities to enhance its public engagement with the province
and beyond.
Measure: Implemented activities to enhance public engagement with the province and
beyond.
INDICATOR
1. Enhanced
programs and
supports for
individuals
and groups
involved in
public
engagement
activities.
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2016-17 RESULTS
During 2016-17 Memorial enhanced supports for public
engagement activities. Examples include:
• Continued to administer the Quick Start Fund for Public
Engagement, aimed at supporting new partnerships
between people and groups within Memorial and people
and groups external to the university. In the 2016-17 cycle,
the Fund supported 33 projects with a total of
approximately $36,875 awarded. Overall, since 2014 a total
of 96 projects were funded with approximately $96,000
awarded that leveraged at least $331,000 in other funding,
making it over 3:1 leverage ratio.
• Continued to administer the Accelerator Fund, a program
that awards up to $10,000 to support the initiation or
expansion of public engagement activities. In 2016-17
cycle, 20 projects have been funded with a total of
approximately $184,000 awarded. Overall, 38 projects
were funded since 2015 supporting 34 faculty members
and four staff members with approximately $367,000
awarded. This leveraged at least $865,500 in other funding,
making it over 2:1 leverage ratio.
• Implemented the Engage Memorial Series, a collection of
ten workshops and events spread across four Memorial
MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND
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campuses that took place between June and December
2016 to help build internal and external capacity and
shared principles for public engagement.
Continued the Cold Ocean and Arctic Science, Technology,
and Society (COASTS) initiative coordinating marine and
northern-related research, teaching, public engagement
and government relations activities across all Memorial
units. The initiative’s public stakeholder engagement and
conference activities link the capacity of the university to
the needs and concerns of communities, governments, and
businesses across the country, and the circumpolar North.
As a part of Strategic Government Relations Initiatives a
collaboration with Dalhousie and UPEI was started to
create Ocean Frontier Institute, a $220 million project that
involved funding for 56 academic staff and 64 Ph.D. and
master’s students. The institute will provide research
support in aquaculture, fisheries, shifting ecosystems, and
social sciences.
Strategic Government Relations Initiatives provided
support to secure Post-Secondary Strategic Investment
Fund’s (SIF) $14.4 million funding for the Animal Care
Facility and $99 million federal funding for the Core Science
Facility.
The Battery Facility is being developed as a public
engagement and innovation platform that will include
public space, technology supports, Memorial public
engagement units, and public programming to support
Memorial’s mission. $9.6 million external funding,
including $4.1 million from SIF, has been secured to
develop the project. The project has no impact on the
university’s operating budget.
The Newfoundland Quarterly, the longest running
magazine in Canada, was awarded a total of $108,868 in
grants from Canadian Heritage and Canada Periodical Fund
(CPF) to aid in publishing, develop an online platform for
the magazine and publish a special issue celebrating
Canada 150.
Memorial’s one-of-a-kind online public engagement
platform, Yaffle, was redeveloped, enhanced and
expanded and now includes other post-secondary
institutions and public partners. Memorial has partnered
with a consortium of major international universities
(including Cornell, Johns Hopkins, and Columbia) to add
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Yaffle’s public engagement focus into the Vivo scholar
networking platform.
A new strategic plan for the Botanical Garden has been
developed reaffirming the Garden’s relationship with the
academy.
As a part of MUN Innovation, steering and coordination
committees were established to coordinate innovative
units in Memorial with aims of filling gaps in publicly
engaged innovation and development of innovation
culture.
Engagement activities at Grenfell Campus included:
 Partnered with the City of Corner Brook to pilot City
Studio in the Fall Semester 2016. City Studio brings
Grenfell teaching and learning to City Hall and allows
students to work with City staff on issues that align with
the City’s strategic priorities. The pilot was a success and
will return in Fall 2017.
 Planned and executed Navigate Start-up Weekend (April)
and Create-a-thon (February), as ways to build
entrepreneurial capacity in the region through team
building, pitching ideas and launching a business within
54 hours.
 Launched the Grenfell – Gros Morne partnership with the
goal of mobilizing Grenfell faculty, students and staff for
greater engagement in Gros Morne.
 Conducted Lunch and Learn events, including a City
Studio Experiential Learning activity in January. Students
shared City Studio experience with observations,
reflections and interpretations.
Engagement activities at Marine Institute included:
 Continued to participate in a number of youth
engagement activities, through its schools and centres
including:
 Marine Advanced Technology Education
(MATE) Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROV)
NL Regional RANGER and SCOUT
competitions.
 The activities of MI Ocean Net.
 Nautical Skills Competition, in collaboration
with the Master Mariners of Canada NL
Division.
 Model Boat Race.
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 Worked with a number of community and industry
partners to host activities and events at the Institute.
These include:
 Techsploration and World Oceans Day.
 Provided facilities tours for various industry
and institutional partners, community
groups and government representatives.
 Hosted tours of its planetarium with the Royal
Astronomical Society for community groups and
families.
 Hosted a public lecture series related to the Ocean
Innovation conference theme.
 Sponsored the Petty Harbour Mini-Aquarium, and a
number of faculty and staff volunteer with the group.
 Continued to partner with the Deer Lake Underwater
Recovery on various education and training activities
related to ocean technology.
Engagement activities at the Labrador Institute included:
Re-allocated funds to hire a research and engagement
position (forthcoming).
Created an engagement committee.
Renewed emphasis on partnerships and public
engagement in our activities, including reaching out to
community groups, giving talks at public events, working
with the local schools to provide guest lectures, and
regularly working with communities in Labrador to share
science and learning.
Obtained funding to support a number of community
engagement initiatives (i.e. from WW I Commemoration
Fund to work with Labrador Heritage Society on Labrador
War Veterans project; funding to support events
throughout Labrador).
Conducted regular outreach activities around the region
and beyond to highlight Labrador Institute, including
events to bring people together (i.e. event connecting
Chamber of Commerce with Labrador Institute
researchers to business community; participation in EXPO
Labrador and Northern Exposure; regular meetings in
north and south coast of Labrador).
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2. Celebrated
achievements,
collaborations
and partnerships
in public
engagement.
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In 2016-17, the university continued to celebrate its
achievements, collaborations and partnerships in public
engagement. Selected examples include:
• To celebrate two exemplary community-university
partnerships in 2016, the President’s Award in Public
Engagement Partnerships were awarded to:
 Dr. Lisa Rankin (Archaeology) and Mayor Jack Shiwak
(Rigolet Inuit Community Government) for “Double
Mer Point: Implementing the Rigolet Inuit Community
Government's Tourism Strategy”.
 Dr. Rose Ricciardelli (HSS) and Peter Clarke (RCMP) for
the project on extrajudicial measures used to divert
youth away from formal justice system and connect
them with their communities and local police officers in
NL.
• Continued to highlight public engagement achievements,
collaborations, and partnerships both online and in print.
This occurs through Memorial’s Public Engagement
website (www.mun.ca/publicengagement) social media,
and other venues. The public engagement Framework
Feature, for example, profiles examples of effective public
engagement in the Memorial Gazette.
• Continued to build an inventory of public engagement
activities creating partnerships with transformative impact.
• The Vice-President (Grenfell Campus) Engagement Awards
(faculty, staff, students) were presented at convocation in
May 2016 to bring greater visibility and recognition to
engagement activities.
• A conference titled “Innovation and Entrepreneurship:
Grenfell’s Role in the Western Region” was held at Grenfell
Campus. This April 2017 event explored the role Navigate
Entrepreneurship Centre (and Grenfell Campus more
broadly) can play to support a culture of entrepreneurship
and encourage innovation. A total of 90 people attended.
• “Our Way Forward: Sharing Knowledge and Building
Capacity for Regional Development” (held in St. Anthony –
November 2016) was a week-long community radio event
and conference looking at challenges and opportunities for
the region. Over 90 people participated in sessions on the
fishery, tourism and regional government. High school
students participated in coding and business canvas
workshops.
• Harris Centre Regional Workshop (Stephenville, October):
Creating Community-University Connections. Partnered
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with the Harris Centre in developing a pre-workshop
networking session which highlighted innovative
opportunities for engagement and collaboration. Format
was snap-shot presentations by community and campus
partners.
The Labrador Institute
 Continued monthly presentations of North West River
speaker series conducted by academics and visiting
experts.
 Hosted two artists in residence at Labrador Institute
Research Centre, one in Fall and one in Winter.
 Continued presentations of monthly Labrador/ians on
Film series.
 Developed monthly Labrador Heritage minutes and
mobile film workshops.
 Appeared in several Gazette issues highlighting
research and partnerships.
 Received regular media attention for research through
the Labrador Institute (water research, fisheries
research, and climate change and health research), in
print and media, including local, regional, national, and
international sources. Highlights include CBC’s The
Current, Canadian Geographic, Eye on the Arctic.

The initiatives outlined above helped Memorial University achieve its 2016-17 objective
to enhance implemented activities to enhance its public engagement with the province
and beyond. The table below outlines activities undertaken over the three year period
of the plan to achieve the goal of enhancing its public engagement activities.

Goal 3: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have enhanced its
public engagement activities with the province and beyond.
Measure:

Enhanced public engagement activities with the province and beyond.

INDICATOR
1. Developed
initiatives
within
Memorial
University to
build public
engagement.

2014-17 RESULTS
Memorial was successful in developing initiatives to build
public engagement:
• Developed and administered the Quick Start Fund for
Public Engagement, aimed at supporting new partnerships
between people and groups within Memorial and people
and groups external to the university. From 2014 to 2017
the fund awarded approximately $96,000 for 96 projects
that have been leveraged in 3:1 ratio with other funding
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2. Cultivated
conditions for
the public to
engage with
Memorial.
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totaling at least $331,064. Overall, 173 organizations have
collaborated through the fund as public partners.
Developed and administered the Accelerator Fund, a
program that awards up to $10,000 to support the
initiation or expansion of public engagement activities.
From 2015 to 2017, approximately $367,000 was awarded
for 38 projects that have been leveraged in 2:1 ratio with
other funding totaling at least $865,586. Overall, 102
organizations have collaborated through the fund as public
partners.
Enhanced and emphasized Cold Ocean and Arctic Science,
Technology, and Society (COASTS) initiatives that have
been coordinated with the Provincial and Federal
Governments, industry and business across the country,
community and Indigenous organizations. Over $568
million funding was achieved for COASTS-related
initiatives.
The Harris Centre with its Regional Analytics Laboratory
(RAnLab) collaborated with the Community Foundation of
Newfoundland and Labrador to create Vital Signs, a series
of annual province wide check-ups conducted since 2014.
Newfoundland & Labrador’s Vital Signs reports were
widely distributed throughout the province and stimulated
publicly engaged discussions about the state of health of
the province across several key areas.

Over the course of the current three year plan, Memorial was
successful in creating the conditions necessary for the public
to engage with the university. Examples include:
• Designed and implemented the Engage Memorial Series, a
collection of workshops and events that helped to build
internal and external capacity for public engagement.
Between 2014 and 2016 a total of 48 on-campus and offcampus events were supported that involved participation
of approximately 1,000 people.
• The President’s Award in Public Engagement Partnerships
was created to recognize and celebrate public engagement
partnerships between the community and the university.
Since its inception in 2015 it has been awarded to four
public engagement partnership projects.
• Developed, enhanced and expanded Yaffle – Memorial’s
one-of-a-kind online public engagement platform, which
includes both the university and other post-secondary
institutions and public partners.
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Started redevelopment of the Battery Facility to create a
public engagement and innovation platform that includes
public space, technology supports, Memorial public
engagement units, and public programming to support
Memorial’s mission.
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ISSUE 4: ENABLING SUCCESS

Memorial must ensure that its operating environment is optimal if it is to achieve its
institutional mission, especially in the current fiscal environment. Development and
maintenance of infrastructure is a critical success factor for Memorial to achieve its long
term goals in teaching and learning, research, and engagement. Now more than ever, it
is critical that the processes that support the core mission of the institution be as efficient
and effective as possible.
Memorial’s Infrastructure Plan provides the long-term vision and direction for
development of new infrastructure and the maintenance of complex and increasingly
dilapidated aging infrastructure. In 2013-14, the university created a process to review
operations and budgets across the academic and administrative functions of the
university in response to the Provincial Government's budget. The Operations and Budget
Review Secretariat, which completed its mandate in 2016-17, identified a number of
projects to ensure that processes are streamlined, bureaucracy is minimized, and that the
university makes the best use of its resources. The university remains committed to
continuously seeking efficiencies and improving its operations.
Objective 2016-2017: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have furthered
activities to enhance infrastructure and operational efficiency.
Measure:

Further activities to enhance infrastructure and operational efficiency.

INDICATOR
1. Continued
implementation
of the
infrastructure
plan.
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2016-17 RESULTS
Over the course of 2016-2017 progress was made on a number
of projects identified in the Infrastructure Plan. Some
highlights include:
• St. John’s Campus - Core Science Facility
o The building foundations contract was completed and
the tender for the construction of the remainder of the
building was issued and closed. Construction of the
remainder of the building began in Spring 2017 and is
expected to achieve substantial completion 36 months
after the tender is awarded.
o Funding from the Government of Canada’s New
Building Canada Fund was announced for the project
in June, 2016.
o The Core Science Facility will provide quality research
and laboratory teaching spaces primarily for the
Faculty of Science and the Faculty of Engineering and
Applied Science. The building will also include shell
space to be used for a variety of joint universityindustry research and collaborations.
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St. John’s Campus - Battery Facility
o Battery Facility Redevelopment Abatement and
Demolition Contract was substantially completed.
o Battery Facility Redevelopment & Building Expansion
contract was tendered, awarded and construction is
ongoing. The Facility is scheduled to achieve
substantial completion in Spring 2018.
o Renovations to graduate student accommodations
were fully completed in 2016 and the space continues
to see high occupancy rates.
o Funding from the Government of Canada’s PostSecondary Institutions Strategic Investment Fund was
announced in Fall 2016 in support of transitioning the
property into a public engagement and innovation
hub.
St. John’s Campus - Animal Resource Centre
o Design work was completed during the reporting
period, and the construction contract will be issued for
tender in the future.
o Funding from the Government of Canada’s PostSecondary Institutions Strategic Investment Fund was
announced in Fall 2016 in support of this project.
o The Animal Resource Centre will be a much-needed
replacement for two of Memorial University’s current
animal research care facilities; the facilities at the
Health Sciences Centre (over 40 years old) and the
Biotechnology Building (over 25 years old).
Construction of the new facility will allow the
University to maintain its certification with the
Canadian Council for Animal Care (CCAC).
St. John’s Campus - Aboriginal Centre
o Detailed design was completed during the reporting
period, however revisions to the design are being
considered to allow for flexibility in the future
utilization of the building’s basement area.
o A site has been identified and selected for the project,
however tenders will not be called until all funds have
been secured for the project.
o The vision for the facility is to have a centrally located,
highly visible, dedicated Indigenous space on the St.
John’s Campus. The space will allow for additional
programming in support of Indigenous research
activities as well as to connect Indigenous students,
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researchers, and communities from across the
province.
Marine Institute – Phase IIB Ocean Research and Training
Building in Holyrood
o Phase IIB of the project was in early design stage and
tenders will not be called until all funds have been
secured for the project.
o Phase IIB of the project involves the development of a
40,000 sq. ft. research and teaching facility which
includes a high bay workshop, shops, office space, dry
laboratories, classroom space and meeting rooms.
o The primary capability provided by this phase of the
project is in support of research and training on site.
The proposed infrastructure would see the facility’s
shops and labs used in support of research and
development activity in ocean observation, ocean
instrumentation, underwater vehicles and ocean
mapping.
Grenfell Campus – Building HVAC Upgrades
o Fine Arts Building
 Consultant was selected, scope was determined
and design was completed over the reporting
period.
 Project was tendered and will be awarded in April
2017, scheduled for completion in September,
2017.
o Arts & Science Building
 Consultant was selected, scope was determined
and design was completed over the reporting
period.
 Project was tendered and awarded in April 2017,
schedule for completion in September 2017.

Over the course of 2016-2017 progress was made on a number
of identified deferred maintenance projects with
approximately $3.4 million committed. A summary of progress
is provided below:
• Architectural and Roofing: Eight building envelope and
two roofing projects were undertaken during the
reporting period. Two of these projects were at the
Education and Science Building curtain walls, which are
high priority projects. Other projects included the
underground tunnel roof leaks, doors and windows as
well as an upgrade to Corte Real.
44
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2. Achieved
Institutional
Efficiencies.

Electrical: The MUN 04 and 07 high voltage electrical
cable replacement was initiated during the reporting
period. This is one phase of a multiyear project. One of
two electrical substations which provide power to the
Engineering Building and National Research Council
Building is underway with work scheduled to be
completed by December 2017.
Mechanical: Mechanical room upgrades at both St.
John’s and Grenfell Campuses are priority projects
which were initiated along with fire protection system
renewal at the Earth Science Building.
Utilities Annex: Work commenced in previous years
involving the installation of a new boiler and
installation of replacement emergency generators was
still ongoing.

In 2016-17, Memorial University continued to achieve
institutional efficiencies through budget reductions and
attrition savings as follows:
• The mandated goal of $3 million in salary reduction by
attrition was achieved.
• An additional $4.05 million in budget reductions was
managed though cuts to travel ($1.3 million) and
administration ($2.75 million).

The initiatives outlined above allowed Memorial to achieve its 2016-17 objective of
furthering activities to enhance infrastructure and operational efficiency. The section
below provides a summary of initiatives undertaken to achieve the 2014-2017 plan goal
of enhancing the university’s infrastructure and operational efficiency.
Goal 4: By March 31, 2017, Memorial University will have enhanced infrastructure and
operational efficiency of the institution.
Measure:

Enhanced infrastructure and operational efficiency of the institution.

INDICATOR
1. Implemented
the
infrastructure
plan.

2014-17 RESULTS
Memorial implemented a number of key elements of the
infrastructure plan in the three year period covered by the
2014-17 plan.
• The university was successful in attracting federal
funding to support the development of the Core Science
Building, the Battery facility, the Marine Institute
Holyrood Facility and the Animal Care Building.
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• Design and site preparation work for the Core Science
Building was completed with construction to commence
in the spring of 2017.
• The Battery residence area was completed, creating 87
graduate student accommodations. Abatement and
demolition work was completed and the facility
redevelopment and building expansion contract was
tendered, awarded and construction is ongoing.
• A new offshore operations simulator was constructed at
Marine Institute.
• Construction of Phase IIA of the Holyrood Marine Base
(breakwater and marginal wharf) is nearing completion.
Other elements of Phase IIA, including installation of
subsea structures in the water lot will be completed in
the coming months.
• The Marine Institute is working with architectural
consultants on the planning of Phase IIB development
(new facility) of the Holyrood Marine Base.
• All design work for the Animal Care building was
completed with construction to commence in the near
future.
• Grenfell’s energy strategy was implemented including a
secure source of emergency power and a reliable
distribution system.
• A major upgrade to St. John’s College was completed.
• Essential roofing, electrical, and HVAC upgrades were
made to a number of buildings.
• In total, the university completed approximately $16.75
million in critical deferred maintenance over the period
covered by the plan.
2. Implemented
select findings
of the
efficiency
review.
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For the period from 2014-17, Memorial University
implemented a number projects identified by the efficiency
review including:
• Operational changes in a number of academic units
including Medicine, Computer Science, Pharmacy,
Nursing and Business resulting in cost reductions of
$1.428 million.
• Restructuring of Cooperative Education resulting in
savings of $336,000.
• Administrative efficiencies in Printing Services and
Marketing and Communications resulting in savings of
$469,000.

MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND

• The university managed a series of budget reductions as
well. Overall, about $13.5 million dollars in cost savings
($7.6 million), cost avoidance ($0.5 million), and budget
cuts ($5.4 million) were achieved in the first two years
of the planning period and an additional $7.05 million in
budget reductions occurred in 2016-17, for a total of
approximately $20.5 million.
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Opportunities and Challenges
Like many other higher education institutions, Memorial University faces challenges as it
seeks to fulfill its mission, such as shifting enrolment trends, changing program demands,
aging infrastructure, and an uncertain fiscal environment. However, there are still
numerous opportunities that will need to be considered carefully and pursued
strategically. As Memorial moves forward with its Strategic Plan, it will continue to meet
the challenges and embrace new opportunities. In doing so, it will continue to rethink,
innovate and adjust to meet the changing needs of today’s students and those of the
province while being mindful of the challenging fiscal realities.
More than ever, Memorial University strives to be an open and transparent institution
that is accountable to its funders and responsible for its actions. In the spirit of
accountability, the university will continue to operate in a manner that encourages broad
communication about its progress towards stated goals and objectives, activities, and use
of resources.
The university has been successful in achieving its stated objectives for 2016-17 as well as
the 2014-2017 goals that were set out its strategic plan for 2014-17. This report fulfills its
obligation under the province’s Transparency and Accountability Act.
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Schedule 1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Regents of
Memorial University of Newfoundland
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Memorial University
of Newfoundland which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
March 31, 2017 and the consolidated statements of operations, remeasurement gains, changes in
net deficiency and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.
Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing
standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Memorial University of Newfoundland as at March 31, 2017 and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian
public sector accounting standards.

St. John’s, Canada
December 12, 2017

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Statement 2

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
Year ended March 31
[thousands of dollars]
2017
REVENUE
Government grants
Student fees
Other income
Amortization of deferred capital contributions [note 9]
Sales and services
Investment income

EXPENSES
Salaries and employee benefits
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Scholarships, bursaries and awards
Materials and supplies
Utilities
Externally contracted service
Repairs and maintenance
Travel and hosting
Post-employment benefits [note 12]
Other operating expenses
Professional fees
Equipment rentals
Interest expense
External cost recoveries
Excess of expenses over revenue

See accompanying notes

2016

403,235
63,896
55,900
37,468
15,715
6,912
583,126

400,847
61,365
75,797
39,116
14,283
4,639
596,047

418,132
36,953
30,191
26,854
20,129
19,396
19,132
16,233
13,496
13,216
10,669
4,375
826
(15,689)
613,913
(30,787)

416,212
38,640
29,565
25,288
24,427
20,365
22,290
17,406
18,439
13,016
9,690
4,238
426
(14,870)
625,132
(29,085)

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Statement 3

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
REMEASUREMENT GAINS AND LOSSES
Year ended March 31
[thousands of dollars]
2017

Accumulated remeasurement gains
at beginning of year

2016

2,628

6,083

Unrealized gains (losses) attributable to:
Portfolio investments
Derivative liability [note 5]

8,295
376

-

2,777
410

Realized gains (losses) reclassified to consolidated statement of operations:
Portfolio investments
Accumulated remeasurement gains
at end of year

See accompanying notes

(3,865)

(1,088)

7,434

2,628

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Statement 4

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES
IN NET DEFICIENCY
As at March 31
[thousands of dollars]

Balance, beginning of year

Net Assets
Restricted for
Endowment
Purposes

Net Assets
Related to
Remeasurement
Gains

Unrestricted
Net
Deficiency

2017

2016

87,537

2,628

(143,591)

(53,426)

(22,653)

4,806

(3,455)

(30,787)

(29,085)

2,286

1,767

(77,121)

(53,426)

Change in remeasurement gains
for the current year

4,806

Excess of revenue over expense
(expense over revenue)

3,110

Endowment contributions

2,286

Balance, end of year
See accompanying notes

92,933

(33,897)

7,434

(177,488)

Memorial University of Newfoundland

Statement 5

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended March 31
[thousands of dollars]
2017

2016

(30,787)

(29,085)

36,953
(37,468)
437
13,496
11,222
(6,147)

38,640
(39,116)
398
18,439
(18,546)
(29,270)

(35,154)
26,624
(8,530)

(43,855)
40,782
(3,073)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in short-term investments, net
Decrease in restricted cash, net
Decrease (increase) in portfolio investments, net
Cash provided by investing activities

30,133
955
(4,879)
26,209

11,034
1,801
11,186
24,021

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Decrease in bank indebtedness, net
Endowment contributions
(Decrease) increase in long-term debt, net
Cash provided by financing activities

(1,300)
2,286
(782)
204

(1,244)
1,767
11,447
11,970

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
during the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

11,736
16,261
27,997

3,648
12,613
16,261

27,997
27,997

16,261
16,261

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Excess of expenses over revenue
Items not affecting cash:
Amortization of tangible capital assets
Amortization of deferred capital contributions
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets
Increase in post-employment benefits, net
Change in non-cash working capital
Cash used in operating activities
CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Purchase of tangible capital assets
Contributions received for capital purposes
Cash used in capital activities

Cash and cash equivalents represented by:
Cash
Cash equivalents

See accompanying notes

Memorial University of Newfoundland
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
March 31, 2017

1.

AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

Memorial University of Newfoundland [the “University”] is a corporation operating under the authority of the
Memorial University Act. The University is an inclusive community dedicated to innovation and excellence in
teaching and learning, research, scholarship, creative activity, service and public engagement. It is a comprehensive
research university offering a full range of undergraduate, graduate and continuing studies programs. The academic
governance of the University is vested in the Senate. The University is a government not-for-profit organization
[“GNPO”], governed by a Board of Regents, the majority of whom are appointed by the Government of
Newfoundland and Labrador. The University is a registered charity under the Income Tax Act [Canada] and,
accordingly, is exempt from income taxes, provided certain requirements of the Income Tax Act [Canada] are met.

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of presentation
The consolidated financial statements of the University have been prepared by management in accordance with
Canadian public sector accounting standards for GNPO’s, including the 4200 series of standards, as issued by the
Public Sector Accounting Board [“PSAB”].

Reporting entity
The consolidated financial statements reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of the University and the
following not-for-profit organizations, which are controlled by the University:
C-CORE
Campus Childcare Inc.
The Canadian Centre for Fisheries Innovation
Genesis Group Inc.
Memorial University Recreation Complex
Western Sports and Entertainment Inc (dissolved in March 31, 2016)
All intercompany assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses have been eliminated.

Use of estimates
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the year at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual
results could differ from these estimates. Estimates are reviewed periodically, and as adjustments become
necessary, they are reported in the earnings of the period during which they became known. Areas of key estimation
include actuarial assumptions for post-employment benefits, allowance for doubtful accounts, amortization rates and
cost of assets under construction.

Revenue recognition
The University follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions, which include donations and
government grants, as follows:
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Contributions are recorded in the accounts when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when initially recorded in the accounts.
Contributions externally restricted for purposes other than endowment are initially deferred when recorded
in the accounts and recognized as revenue in the year during which the related expenses are incurred.
Restricted contributions for the purchase of capital assets are deferred and amortized to operations on the
same basis as the related asset.
Endowment contributions are recorded as direct increases in net assets in the year during which they are
received.
Revenues from contracts, sales and other ancillary services [parking, residence, sundry sales, etc.] are recognized
when the goods or services are provided and collection is reasonably assured.
Student fees are recognized as revenue when courses or seminars are held.
Investment income (loss) recorded in the statement of operations consists of interest, dividends, income distributions
from pooled funds and realized gains and losses, net of related fees. Unrealized gains and losses are recorded in the
statement of remeasurement gains, except to the extent they relate to deferred contributions and to endowments, in
which case they are added to the respective balance.
Restricted investment income [interest, dividends, realized gains and losses] is initially deferred and recognized in
the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
Restricted investment income [interest, dividends, realized gains and losses] that must be maintained as an
endowment is recorded as a direct increase/decrease to net assets.

Endowments
Endowments consist of internally and externally restricted donations received by the University. The endowment
principal is required to be maintained intact, with the investment income generated used for the purposes established
by the donors. The University ensures, as part of its fiduciary responsibilities, that all funds received with a
restricted purpose are expended for the purpose for which they were provided. The University has established a
policy with the objective of protecting the real value of the endowments. The amount of income made available for
spending is prescribed annually and an amount is added to endowment net assets for capital preservation every three
years.

Expense recognition
Expenses are recorded on the accrual basis as they are incurred and measureable based on receipt of goods or
services and obligation to pay.
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Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit, investments in money-market funds and short-term investments
with original terms to maturity of 90 days or less. Cash and cash equivalents held by external investment managers
for investing rather than liquidity purposes are classified as investments.

Tangible capital assets
Purchased tangible capital assets are recorded at cost. Contributed tangible capital assets are recorded at fair value
at the date of acquisition. Repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to operations as incurred. Betterments
which meet certain criteria are capitalized.
The University’s permanent art collection is expensed when purchased and the value of donated art is not
recognized in these consolidated financial statements.
The University’s library collection is capitalized and recorded at cost.
Assets under construction are recorded as such in the consolidated statement of financial position until the asset is
ready for productive use, at which time it is transferred to tangible capital assets and amortized.
Assets under capital lease are recorded as tangible capital assets and amortized on the same basis as the underlying
asset.
Tangible capital assets are amortized over their useful lives using the following methods and rates.

Asset
Buildings
Furniture and equipment
Computers
Software
Vehicles and vessels
Library collection

Rate
8%
20%
30%
20%
30%
10 years

Method
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Declining balance
Straight line

Impairment of long-lived assets
Tangible capital assets are written down when conditions indicate they no longer contribute to the University’s
ability to provide goods and services, or when the value of the future economic benefits associated with the tangible
capital assets is less than their net book value. The net write-downs are accounted for as an expense in the
consolidated statement of operations. Any associated unamortized deferred capital contributions related to the
derecognized assets is recognized in income.
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Foreign currency translation
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the
exchange rate in effect at year end. Operating revenue and expenses are translated at exchange rates prevailing on
the transaction dates. Realized gains or losses arising from these translations are included in the statement of
operations. Unrealized gains or losses are included in the statement of remeasurement gains, except to the extent
they relate to deferred contributions, in which case they are added to the balance.

Post-employment benefits
Pension plan
The employees of the University participate in a defined benefit pension plan [the Plan] administered under the
Memorial University Pensions Act. The Plan is underwritten by the Province of Newfoundland and
Labrador. Payments to the Plan consist of contributions from employees together with matching amounts from the
University plus any additional amounts required to be paid by an employer as prescribed in the Pension Benefits Act
(1997) [PBA]. For the period April 1, 2015 to March 31, 2017 the University was exempt from the going concern
funding requirements of the PBA thereby allowing deferral of the 2015/16 and 2016/17 special payments against the
Plan’s unfunded liability.
With respect to a solvency deficiency, the PBA requires that an employer contribute an amount sufficient to
liquidate the deficiency within five years of the solvency valuation date. The University is exempt from this
solvency funding provision to December 31, 2018. Where the solvency ratio is below prescribed limits the
University will, however, make special payments into the fund representing the solvency deficiency on refunds and
transfers paid out of the fund.
The University’s contributions to the pension plan are recorded as an expense in the consolidated statement of
operations. The assets and obligations of the plan are not recorded in these consolidated financial statements.
An actuarial valuation of the Plan was performed as at December 31, 2016. The results of this valuation and those
of the December 31, 2015 funding valuation have been extrapolated to March 31, 2017 and 2016 for financial
statement reporting.
The extrapolation revealed that the going concern unfunded liability is $262.1 million at March 31, 2017 based on
current Plan provisions and PBA requirements. Under the PBA, a going concern unfunded liability must be funded
over a period of not more than 15 years while a solvency deficiency must be funded over a maximum five-year
period. A portion of the going concern unfunded liability relates to the past service cost of indexing, introduced
under the Plan, effective July 1, 2004. A funding arrangement was implemented coincident with the introduction of
indexing to liquidate this unfunded liability over a period of 40 years. At March 31, 2017, approximately 27.25
years are remaining in the amortization schedule. The indexing liability is amortized on a declining balance basis
along with recognition that if the indexing contributions (i.e., an additional 0.6% of payroll being made by both the
University and employees) exceed the originally scheduled amortization payment, then 15 years’ worth of these
excess contributions can be accounted for when determining the University’s special payments.
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Effective April 1, 2017, the University is required to make special payments to fund the going concern unfunded
liability revealed in the December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation. As at December 31, 2015 the going concern
unfunded liability was $297.2 million. The portion of the going concern unfunded liability (after accounting for the
indexing liability) to be amortized was $218.4 million and the required amortization payment for fiscal 2017/2018 is
estimated to be $28.6 million (or 8.6% of pensionable payroll). University special payments will continue at this
level (i.e. 8.6% of pensionable payroll) until the next actuarial valuation for funding purposes, which is due no later
than December 31, 2018 (i.e., within three years of the December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation).
Other post-employment benefits
In addition to the University’s pension plan, the University also has defined benefit plans for other postemployment benefits. These benefits are actuarially determined using the projected benefit method prorated on
service and the administration’s best estimate of salary escalation, retirement ages of employees and escalation on
covered benefit expense outlays. Liabilities are measured using a discount rate determined by reference to the
University’s cost of borrowing. Actuarial gains and losses will be amortized over the average remaining service life
of employees, which is 13 years.
The post-employment benefits are:
Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (SRIP)
Voluntary Early Retirement Income Plan (VERIP)
Other benefits [severance, group life insurance and health care benefits]

Financial instruments
The University classifies its financial instruments as either fair value or amortized cost. The University determines
the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. The accounting policy for each category is as
follows:
Fair value
This category includes cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, bank indebtedness, derivatives and equity
investments quoted in an active market as well as investments in pooled funds for identical assets or liabilities using
the last bid price. The University has designated its bond portfolio that would otherwise be classified into the
amortized cost category at fair value as the University manages and reports performance of it on a fair value basis.
Transaction costs related to these financial instruments are expensed as incurred.
Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statement of remeasurement gains and are
reclassified to the consolidated statement of operations upon disposal or settlement.
Where a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is removed from
accumulated remeasurement gains and recognized in the consolidated statement of operations. If the loss
subsequently reverses, the writedown to the consolidated statement of operations is not reversed until the investment
is sold.
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Amortized cost
This category includes short term investments, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities and
debt. They are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method, less any impairment losses.
Transaction costs related to financial instruments in the amortized cost category are capitalized and amortized over
the term of the instrument.
Short term investments consist of investments in debt securities, whether or not quoted in an active market, initially
recorded at fair value plus financing fees and transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or
disposal. These debt securities are thereafter carried at amortized cost using the straight line amortization method.
Write-downs of financial assets in the amortized cost category are recognized when the amount of the loss is known
with sufficient precision, and there is no realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets are then written down to net
recoverable value with the write-down being recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.

Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are utilized by the University in the management of interest rate exposure related to
its bank indebtedness. The University may also enter into foreign exchange forward contracts to eliminate the risk of
fluctuating foreign exchange rates on future commitments. The University does not utilize derivative financial
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
The University enters into interest rate swaps in order to reduce the impact of fluctuating interest rates on its floating
rate bank indebtedness. These swap agreements require the periodic exchange of payments without the exchange of
the notional principal amount on which the payments are based. These swap agreements are recorded on a mark-tomarket basis.

Contributed materials and services
If contributed materials meet the definition of a tangible capital asset, and fair value is determinable, the University
capitalizes and amortizes the tangible capital asset. All other contributed materials are not recognized in these
consolidated financial statements.
Volunteers, including volunteer efforts from the staff of the University, contribute an indeterminable number of
hours per year to assist the University in carrying out its service delivery activities. The cost that would otherwise
be associated with these contributed services is not recognized in these consolidated financial statements.

Agency obligations
The University acts as an agent which holds resources and makes disbursements on behalf of various unrelated
groups. The University has no discretion over such agency transactions. Resources received in connection with
such agency transactions are reported as liabilities and subsequent distributions are recorded as decreases in these
liabilities.
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3.

MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY ACT

In accordance with the Memorial University Act, the University is normally prohibited from recording a deficit on
its consolidated financial statements in excess of ¼ of 1% of its total revenue.
During 1996, pursuant to Section 36 of the Memorial University Act, the University received approval from the
Lieutenant-Governor in Council to record a deficit of up to $5.0 million in 1996 and an additional $10.0 million in
1997 as a result of the recognition of the liabilities related to VERIP for faculty and staff.
During 2001, the University received approval from the Lieutenant-Governor in Council to exclude from the
definition of a deficit, pursuant to Section 36 of the Memorial University Act, any amounts resulting from the
recognition of the liabilities related to recording vacation pay entitlements, severance and other post-employment
benefits.

4.

RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash consists of premiums paid to Manulife Financial on behalf of employees which are held in an
interest-bearing bank account to be used to fund future rate increases or enhancements in the long-term disability
and basic term life insurance plans. The related liability is included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

5.

BANK INDEBTEDNESS

Pursuant to Section 41 of the Memorial University Act, the University has received approval from the LieutenantGovernor in Council to borrow to finance two capital projects. The projects involved the construction of a new
residence complex for Grenfell Campus [Project 1] and the implementation of an energy performance program in
five buildings on the University’s main campus in St. John’s [Project 2]. The debt has been negotiated using
bankers’ acceptances [BA’s] which mature during the 2017/18 fiscal year. Management expects to refinance these
loans through BA’s for the balance of the term of the loan. Disclosure related to interest rate risk is provided in note
14.

Derivative liability
Project 1 interest rate swap transaction involves the exchange of the underlying floating rate Canadian BA for a
fixed interest rate of 4.76% expiring April 12, 2017 with a notional amount of $2.0 million. The fair value of this
interest rate swap is $0.03 million [2016 - $0.06 million].
Project 2 interest rate swap transaction involves the exchange of the underlying floating rate Canadian BA for a
fixed interest rate of 5.12% expiring October 1, 2022 with a notional amount of $9.4 million. The fair value of this
interest rate swap is $0.9 million [2016 - $1.33 million].

6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT CLASSIFICATION

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified according to a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
importance of the data used to perform each valuation. The fair value hierarchy is made up of the following levels:
Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities using the last bid price.
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Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data.
[thousands of dollars]
Level 1
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Investments
Publicly traded equity - CDN
Publicly traded equity – USD
Publicly traded equity – Global
Fixed income
Bank indebtedness
Derivative liability
Total

27,997
922
27,701
10,830
10,654
78,104

Level 2

Total

2016
Total

-

27,997
922

16,261
1,877

933
933

27,701
10,830
10,654
63,594
8,797
933
151,428

28,108
10,967
10,126
54,270
10,097
1,385
133,091

2017
Level 3

63,594
8,797
72,391

There have been no significant transfers between levels for all reporting periods presented.

7.

TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS

[thousands of dollars]

Buildings
Furniture and equipment
Computers
Software
Vehicles and vessels
Library collection
Total

2016

2017

Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book Value

Net Book
Value

458,554
165,652
25,127
4,840
6,624
165,136
825,933

215,047
109,551
16,495
3,496
5,716
140,167
490,472

243,507
56,101
8,632
1,344
908
24,969
335,461

237,318
60,380
6,771
1,613
1,041
24,982
332,105

Amortization expense for the year is $37.0 million (2016 - $38.6 million).
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8.

ASSETS UNDER CONSTRUCTION

Assets under construction represent costs incurred to date on the construction of new facilities. Assets under
construction are as follows:
[thousands of dollars]
Project Description
Core Science Facility
100 Signal Hill Road Property
HMB Marginal Breakwater and Wharf
Animal Care Unit Expansion
Energy Performance Project – Phase 2 Expansion
Engineering High Bay Labs
Aboriginal Center
Document Management Project
Holyrood Research Facility
Ocean Sciences Center Deep Water Supply
Mount Scio Road Warehouse
Total

9.

2017

2016

28,281
19,466
11,465
2,034
971
519
329
53
1
63,119

20,467
17,550
3,470
352
943
347
98
25,398
86
68,711

DEFERRED CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Deferred capital contributions related to tangible capital assets represent the unamortized and unspent amount of
donations and grants received for the purchase of tangible capital assets. The amortization of deferred capital
contributions is recorded as revenue in the consolidated statement of operations.
[thousands of dollars]
Balance, beginning of year
Additional contributions received
Less amounts amortized to revenue
Balance, end of year

2017
377,864
26,624
(37,468)
367,020

2016
376,198
40,782
(39,116)
377,864
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10.

DEFERRED CONTRIBUTIONS – EXTERNAL GRANTS AND DONATIONS

Deferred contributions related to expenses of future periods represent unspent externally restricted grants and
donations for research and other programs.
[thousands of dollars]
Balance, beginning of year
Grants and donations received during the year
Less amounts recognized to revenue for expenses incurred during the year
Balance, end of year

11.

2016

2017

96,085
49,980
(62,667)
83,398

83,398
74,677
(65,780)
92,295

LONG-TERM DEBT

[thousands of dollars]
CMHC mortgage on Queen’s College, 5.875% interest, repayable in 50 equal,
blended payments of $29 semi-annually, maturing in June 2018, secured
Royal Bank of Canada [“RBC”] fixed rate term loan to fund the Marginal Breakwater
and Wharf Facility, 3.69%, repayable in 19 equal, annual blended payments of $825,
matures in 2034
Capital leases negotiated through the RBC, varying interest rates,
payable in equal annual installments, secured by assets under lease
Less: current portion

2017

2016

82

133

10,717

11,186

321
11,120
774
10,346

583
11,902
844
11,058

Annual repayments of long-term debt over the next five years are as follows:
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022

12.

$774
$505
$462
$479
$497

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The University has a number of post-employment benefit liabilities including employee future benefits (severance,
health and dental benefits and life insurance), Voluntary Early Retirement Income Plan and Supplemental
Retirement Income Plan. The last valuation was performed on December 31, 2016 and extrapolated in each
subsequent year for accounting purposes.
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Employee Future Benefits
The University provides group life insurance and health care benefits on a cost shared basis to retired employees,
and in certain cases, their surviving spouses. In addition, the University pays severance to certain employee groups
upon termination, retirement or death, provided they meet certain eligibility criteria. The cost of providing these
future benefits is unfunded. Current year payments are funded on an annual basis from operations.
The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring these benefits include the following:

Discount rate:
Liability
Expense
Average rate of compensation increase

2017

2016

4.20%
4.20%
4.00%

4.20%
3.40%
4.00%

The health care inflation rate is 7% in year 1 following the valuation date, reducing 0.5% per year to 4% in year 7
and later (2017 – 7.0%, 2016 – 5.5%). There is no explicit inflation rate assumption.

Voluntary Early Retirement Income Plan (VERIP)
In February and May 1996, the University offered faculty and staff, who reached age 55 and attained a minimum of
10 years pensionable service, an opportunity to take an early retirement under the provisions of the VERIP. Subject
to eligibility criteria, the Plan provided an incentive of enhanced pension benefits of up to five years’ pensionable
service and waiver of actuarial reduction, if applicable, or a lump sum early retirement payment. The early
retirement incentive is unfunded. Current year payments are funded on an annual basis from operations.
The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring these benefits include the following:

Discount rate
Liability
Expense

2017

2016

3.30%
3.30%

3.30%
2.60%

Supplemental Retirement Income Plan (SRIP)
In May 1996, the Board of Regents approved a SRIP to provide benefits to employees of the University whose
salaries exceed the Canada Revenue Agency maximum pensionable salary and whose defined benefit pension,
therefore, exceeds the maximum benefit payable from the Plan.
The significant actuarial assumptions used in measuring these benefits include the following:

Discount rate
Liability
Expense

2017

2016

4.20%
4.20%

4.20%
3.40%
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The accrued liability and expense of these post-employment benefits are outlined in the tables below:
[thousands of dollars]

Post-employment benefits
Unamortized actuarial loss
Total liability

2017
Employee
Future
Benefits

VERIP

199,118
(9,433)
189,685

5,378
5,378

[thousands of dollars]

Post-employment benefits
Unamortized actuarial loss
Total liability

SRIP

Total
Liability

28,570
(5,739)
22,831

233,066
(15,172)
217,894

SRIP

Total
Liability

27,391
(6,659)
20,732

229,327
(24,929)
204,398

SRIP

Total
Expense

2016
Employee
Future
Benefits

VERIP

196,219
(18,270)
177,949

5,717
5,717

[thousands of dollars]
2017

Current year benefit costs
Interest on accrued benefit obligations
Benefit payments
Amortized actuarial losses
Total expense

Employee
Future
Benefits

VERIP

7,158
8,414
(5,990)
2,154
11,736

181
(489)
(31)
(339)

[thousands of dollars]

8,221
9,775
(7,212)
2,712
13,496

2016
Employee
Future
Benefits

Current year benefit costs
Interest on accrued benefit obligations
Benefit payments
Amortized actuarial losses
Total expense

1,063
1,180
(733)
589
2,099

8,539
7,641
(4,911)
5,426
16,695

VERIP
158
(494)
(237)
(573)

SRIP
1,217
958
(595)
737
2,317

Total
Expense
9,756
8,757
(6,000)
5,926
18,439
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13.

CONTINGENCIES
(a) Canadian University Reciprocal Insurance Exchange (CURIE)
The University participates in a self-insurance cooperative involving a contractual agreement to share the
insurance, property and liability risks of member universities for a term of not less than five years.
In the event the premiums are not sufficient to cover claims settlements, the member universities would be
subject to an assessment in proportion to their participation. For the year ended December 31, 2016, CURIE
had a surplus of $15.2 million and a cumulative subscribers’ equity of $84.9 million. The University’s pro-rata
share is approximately 3% on an ongoing basis.

(b) Asset Retirement Obligations
The University has identified a potential liability related to the existence of asbestos in a number of its
facilities. Although not a current health hazard, upon renovation or demolition of these facilities, the University
may be required to take appropriate remediation procedures to remove the asbestos. As the University has no
legal obligation to remove the asbestos in these facilities as along as the asbestos is contained and does not pose
a public health risk, the fair value of the obligation cannot be reasonably estimated due to the indeterminate
timing and scope of the removal. The asset retirement obligations for these assets will be recorded in the period
in which there is certainty that the renovation or demolition project will proceed and there is sufficient
information to estimate fair value of the obligation.

14.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Market risk
The University is exposed to market risk on its investments due to future fluctuations in market prices. This risk is
managed by a Statement of Investment Policy and Objectives approved by the Board of Regents which includes
investment policy provisions for an acceptable asset mix structure and quality constraints on fixed income
instruments.

(a) Currency Risk
Currency risk relates to the University operating in different currencies and converting non-Canadian
transactions at different points in time when adverse changes in foreign currency rates occur. The University
minimizes foreign currency risk to protect the value of foreign cash flows, both committed and anticipated, by
using foreign exchange contracts when market conditions are judged to be favorable. There have been no
significant changes from the previous year in the exposure to risk or policies, procedures and methods used to
measure the risk.
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[thousands of dollars]
2017 Foreign Currency
Denominated Assets

Fair Values
(CAD)

Impact of 1% Absolute Change in
Exchange Rates on Net Assets

US Equity
Global Equity

10,830
10,654

108.30
106.54

(b) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the effect on the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument due to
fluctuations in interest rates. The University’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its floating interest rate
bank indebtedness which utilizes BA’s and exposes the University to cash flow risk. The University has
managed this floating interest rate risk by entering into interest rate swap agreements with the RBC Royal
Bank to offset the movement in the BA rates. Any change in BA rates will be offset by a corresponding change
in the interest rate swap. The fair value of these interest rate swap agreements are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the change in value is reflected in the consolidated statement of
remeasurement gains.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of a counterparty to satisfy its obligations. The University is exposed
to credit risk with respect to accounts receivable from students, governments and other clients as well as through its
investments in fixed income and equity securities. Services are provided to a large number of students and entities,
which minimizes the concentration of credit risk. The University routinely monitors the receivable balances and
establishes an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts based upon factors surrounding credit risk, historical
trends, and other information. The University limits its exposure to credit loss on fixed income by investing in
securities with high credit quality. To maximize the credit quality of its investments, the University performs
ongoing credit evaluations based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of issuers, historical trends and other
information. The fair value of debt securities includes consideration of the credit worthiness of the debt issuer. All
transactions executed by the University in listed equities are settled upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk
of default is considered minimal, as the delivery of those securities sold is made only when the broker has received
payment. Payment is made on purchases only when the security is received by the broker. The trade will fail to
consummate if either party fails to meet its obligation. The maximum risk of loss at March 31, 2017 is limited to the
amounts as shown on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Liquidity risk
The University is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to its contractual obligations and financial liabilities. This
risk is managed by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents. The University believes that cash and cash
equivalents on hand, future cash flows from government grants and student fees will be adequate to meet its
financial obligations.

Other price risk
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices [other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk], whether those changes are
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caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments traded in the market. The University is exposed to other price risk through its investments in equity
instruments traded in an active market.

15.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain figures from the prior period have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted for the current
period.
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Schedule 1
[unaudited]
COMPENSATION PRACTICES AT
MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND
Compensation at the University is characterized by the financial remuneration received by individuals in relation to
the duties and responsibilities of their respective position. Compensation is predominantly in the form of a fixed
salary that is regularly reviewed for annual step progression, general economic increases, administrative stipends
and market differential. These market differentials are applied where market demands are greater than assigned
salary levels.
At the executive level, the Board of Regents [the “Board”] on the recommendation of its Executive Compensation
Committee engages in a Senior Executive Compensation Review that assesses compensation levels for the
University’s Executive members against similar positions within the Canadian University Market. This market
review is normally done on a five year interval to ensure market alignment.
Compensation for Academic Executive, Academic Management, and Academic Staff include a salary amount
identified on the faculty scale, based on experience, rank and highest degree, in accordance with the Memorial
University of Newfoundland Faculty Association [MUNFA] collective agreement. In addition, for Academic
Executive and Management, there is an administrative stipend, set by the Board that is applied in addition to core
compensation to reflect the size and complexity of the faculty, school or department.
There are three main salary scales for administrative groups below the level of Vice-President, including; Senior
Administrative Management [SAM] scale; the Management and Professional staff [MPS] scale; and unionized and
non-unionized staff [Common] scale.
Compensation levels for administrative positions below the level of Vice President are determined based on
consideration of nine common factors in the application of the University’s job evaluation plan [AIKEN]. In these
cases, positions are assessed and assigned a rating outcome in nine areas, resulting in a total number of points for a
position with an associated salary band, the intention being that broader, more difficult positions will achieve higher
ratings and therefore be slotted higher in terms of salary banding. Once banded, compensation and employee
progress through these bands or salary levels are a separate process.
Compensation analyses for academic and administrative positions are regularly completed to ensure market
alignment within identified comparator groups and to ensure ongoing competitiveness of the University’s
compensation structure.
For unionized faculty and staff, compensation structures are determined through collective bargaining processes
between the University and the various unions representing each employee group; MUNFA, Canadian Union of
Public Employees [CUPE], the Newfoundland and Labrador Association of Public and Private Employees [NAPE],
Lecturers’ Union of Memorial University of Newfoundland [LUMUN] and Teaching Assistants’ Union of Memorial
University of Newfoundland [TAUMUN].
The attached tabular information and explanatory notes provide an overview of salary ranges for executive,
academic and administrative positions at Memorial University of Newfoundland.
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MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND
EXECUTIVE SALARY RANGES
MARCH 31, 2017
Salary Range ($)
President and Vice-Chancellor
Vice-Presidents:
Provost (Academic)
Administration & Finance
Research [note 1]
Grenfell Campus [GC] [note 2]
Marine Institute

469,200

219,488 - 274,360
195,089 - 243,861
195,089 - 243,861
195,089 - 243,861
195,089 - 243,861

Note 1: Actual salary is $303,987, inclusive of pro tempore stipend, as per employment contract.
Note 2: Actual salary is $253,615 as per employment contract.
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MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND
ACADEMIC SALARY RANGES
MARCH 31, 2017
Salary Range
($)
[note 1]

Actual Minimum
and Maximum
Salaries ($)
[note 2]

Number of
Employees
[note 3]

Academic Executive:
Deans of Faculties/Schools
University Librarian
Associate Vice-President
Deputy Provost/Associate Vice-President

[note 4]

20
15
1
3
1

Academic Management:
Associate Deans
Assistant Deans
Department Heads
Directors
Associate University Librarians
Special Projects Consultant

[note 5]

70
29
5
30
1
4
1

Academic Staff: [note 6]
Professors
Associate Professors
Assistant Professors
Lecturers [note 7]
Co-op Education Coordinators
Librarians
Instructors-Marine Institute [note 8]

31,080 - 174,882
112,764 - 174,882
95,628 - 142,752
82,776 - 104,196
65,640 - 78,492
63,496 - 112,762
59,210 - 155,600
31,080 - 163,894

51,525 - 256,278
114,906 - 256,278
97,770 - 170,598
82,776 - 149,178
69,924 - 78,492
69,922 - 129,972
63,494 - 149,174
51,525 - 136,578

1240
235
345
292
92
25
33
218

Note 1: Salary ranges include regular base earnings only.
Note 2: Actual minimum and maximum annual salaries are comprised of all academic staff (including Academic
Executive and Academic Management); amounts include regular base earnings and approved amounts paid
in addition to regular earnings (i.e. administrative stipends and market differentials).
Note 3: This does not represent a count of full time equivalent positions, but rather is a headcount of permanent and
contractual employees. Those on leave or long-term disability have not been included in the count.
Note 4: Academic Deans receive a salary depending upon professorial rank plus an administrative stipend in the
range of $9,500 to $26,500 per year.
Note 5: Academic Department Heads receive a salary based upon their professorial rank plus an administrative
stipend in the range of $5,500 to $10,000 per year.
Note 6: Academic staff counts do not include individuals who may also hold an Academic Executive or Academic
Management affiliation.
Note 7: Lecturers include 49 Visiting Professors paid on the lecturer scale.
Note 8: Marine Instructor count includes Demonstrators, Technical Assistants, Scientists and Instructors.
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MEMORIAL UNIVERSITY OF NEWFOUNDLAND
ADMINISTRATIVE SALARY RANGES
MARCH 31, 2017

Salary Range ($)

Actual Minimum
and Maximum
Salaries ($)
[note 1]

Number of
Employees
[note 2]

Senior Administrative Management
104,546 - 204,993

104,546 - 225,492

126

Management and Professional Staff [note 4]

49,602 - 117,822

49,602 - 120,360

589

Administrative Staff [note 5]

30,237 - 114,362

30,542 - 80,498

1759

Level 1 to 5 [note 3]

[note 6]

Note 1: Actual minimum and maximum annual salaries are based on regular earnings; amounts include regular base
earnings and approved amounts paid in addition to regular earnings (i.e. administrative stipends and market
differentials).
Note 2: This does not represent a count of full time equivalent positions, but rather is a headcount of permanent and
contractual employees. Those on long-term disability have not been included in the count.
Note 3: Compensation levels were assessed based on the Canadian University Market.
Note 4: Compensation was assessed based on the Atlantic Canadian broader public sector.
Note 5: Administrative salary ranges [Common Pay Scale] reflect salary levels defined by union collective
agreements or non-bargaining terms and conditions of employment.
Note 6: Administrative staff count excludes Standardized Patients, Apprentices, Student employees, and other
casual workers.

